
 Agenda

Page 1

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee

Time and Date
10.00 am on Wednesday, 20th December, 2017

Place
Committee Room 3 - Council House

Public Business

1. Apologies and Substitutions  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 10)

(a) To agree the minutes of the previous meeting held on 22nd November, 
2017  

(b) Matters Arising  

4. Taxi-Licensing  (Pages 11 - 12)

Briefing Note and Presentation of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Jim Cunningham MP, Coleen Fletcher MP and Geoffrey Robinson MP and 
Councillors Innes and Lakha, Cabinet Member and Deputy Cabinet Member 
for City Services, have been invited to the meeting for the consideration of this 
item along with the following representatives:
Marcus Jimenez, General Manager, Central Taxis
Alan Lewis, Unite

5. Council Plan 2017-18 Half Year Performance Report  (Pages 13 - 48)

Report of the Chief Executive

Councillor Duggins, Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership has been 
invited to the meeting for the consideration of this item 

6. Civic Visit to Belgrade, Serbia - 1st to 6th October, 2017 - Report Back  
(Pages 49 - 54)

Report of the Lord Mayor, Councillor Tony Skipper

Public Document Pack



Page 2

7. Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Work Programme 2017/2018 Including 
a Suggestion for Scrutiny  (Pages 55 - 62)

Report of the Scrutiny Co-ordinator

8. Any Other Items of Public Business  

Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a matter 
of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.

Private Business

Nil

Martin Yardley, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Council House Coventry

Tuesday, 12 December 2017

Notes:1) The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Liz Knight Bennett, Democratic Services, Council House, Coventry, 
telephone 7683 3073, alternatively E-mail: 
suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk/liz.knight@coventry.gov.uk

2) Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Liz 
Knight no later than 9.00 a.m. on the day of the meeting, giving their 
reasons for absence and the name of the Council Member (if any) who will 
be attending the meeting as their substitute.

3) Scrutiny Board Members who have an interest in any report referred to this 
meeting, but who are not Members of this Committee, have been invited to 
notify the Chair by 12 noon on the day before the meeting that they wish to 
speak on a particular item. The Member must indicate to the Chair their 
reason for wishing to speak and the issue(s) they wish to raise.

Membership: Councillors N Akhtar, A Andrews, R Brown (Chair), J Clifford (Deputy 
Chair), D Gannon, J McNicholas, M Mutton, G Ridley and R Singh

By invitation Councillors G Duggins, J Innes and R Lakha

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms
If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.
Suzanne Bennett/Liz Knight, Governance Services - Telephone: 024 
7683 3072/3073E-mail: 
suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk/liz.knight@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee held at 10.00 am on 

Wednesday, 22 November 2017

Present:
Members: Councillor R Brown (Chair)

 
Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor A Andrews
Councillor J Clifford (Deputy Chair)
Councillor D Gannon
Councillor J McNicholas
Councillor M Mutton
Councillor G Ridley
Councillor R Singh

Other Members Present Councillor F Abbot, Cabinet Member for Adult Services
Councillor L Bigham, Cabinet Member for Community 
Development
  

Employees (by Directorate):
Place

People

M Andrews, S Bennett, V Castree

M McGinty, R Mackenzie – Wilson

Others Present

                      
Apologies

J Breckon (Warwick University)
O Okwuadigbo (Coventry University)

Councillor J Mutton

Public Business

34. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.

In relation to Minute 37 below “Student Accommodation and University City 
Development”, the Committee noted that Councillor Gannon had been a student at 
Warwick University and was currently a student at Coventry University.

35. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October, 2017 were signed as a true record.

There were no matters arising. 

36. Exclusion of Press and Public 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

RESOLVED that approval be given to exclude the press and public under 
Section 100(A) 4 of the Local Government Act 1972 for consideration of the 
private matter referred to in Minute 43  below relating to “Preventative Support 
– Adult Services” on the grounds that that item involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information, as defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of that Act 
as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of an 
organisation and the amount of expenditure proposed to be incurred

37. Student Accommodation and University City Development 

The Committee considered a Briefing Note of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 
which outlined the current position with purpose built student accommodation 
across the City and how that will relate to and support the growth in both the City’s 
Universities. The Briefing Note also included reference to policies and monitoring 
requirements within emerging new Local Plan and City Centre Area Action Plan 
where appropriate.

James Breckon and Obi Okwuadigbo, representing Warwick and Coventry 
Universities respectively, attended the meeting and were able to provide the 
Committee with additional information.

The Briefing Note covered the following areas:-

• The Planning Policy Framework
• Current Development Pipeline
• Monitoring and Future Expectations

The Committee questioned officers and the Universities’ representatives on aspects 
of the Briefing Note including:-

• Information relating to student accommodation contracts, including the 
  length of time contracts are for 

• Section 106 agreements linked to planning applications approvals for 
  student accommodation 

• The retention rates for students remaining in Coventry once they have 
      graduated

• If business rates can be applied to unoccupied Houses in Multiple 
  Occupation (HIMO’s) and purpose built student accommodation that is 
  used for other purposes outside of term time

• Rental costs for student accommodation in the City

• Work undertaken by the Universities to ensure students act as “good
  neighbours”, including information provided to students and codes of 
 conduct applied

The Chair, Councillor Brown, on behalf of the Committee, thanked James and Obi 
for their attendance at the meeting and their contribution to the discussion. 

Page 4



– 3 –

RESOLVED that the Committee receive further information in relation to the 
following:-

1) A list of stakeholders involved in the development of the Local Plan

2) Details of approved Section 106 Agreements linked to purpose built 
student accommodation applications and the criteria applied to 
those agreements

3) Retention figures for students from both Universities who remain in 
the City following the completion of their degrees and information in 
relation to how those figures are derived

4) The position in relation to whether Council Tax is payable in 
unoccupied HIMO’s and purpose built student accommodation that 
is used for other purposes outside of term

5) Opportunities to use empty HIMO’s to rehouse homeless families

6) A comparative of the nature and costs of student accommodation in 
other cities

7) The situation in relation to Business Rates payable on areas of 
student accommodation buildings, such as retail units and leisure 
facilities

8) A copy of the information provided to new students by the 
Universities in relation to their accommodation and codes of 
conduct 

9) Powers available to the City Council in relation to landlord 
responsibility

38. Preventative Support - Adult Services 

The Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People) 
considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People), which set out the 
outcome of review work and the proposed changes for preventative support for Adult 
Services across 4 specific priority areas.

A corresponding private report detailing confidential aspects of the proposals was 
also submitted to the meeting for consideration (Minute 43 below refers)

The delivery of an effective preventative support was an important element of 
supporting people early in order to maintain their independence and prevent or 
reduce the need for social care or health support.  Providing support in the way was 
a key element of the strategy for Adult Social Care as well as enshrined in the Care 
Act 2014.

Preventative support was currently provided by a range of voluntary and third sector 
organisations, who were commissioned by both the Council and the Coventry and 

Page 5



– 4 –

Rugby Clinical Commissioning Group (CRCCG) through a range of contracts and 
grants, all of which were due to expire in March 2018.

In order to ensure that the support provided beyond the end of these existing 
arrangements remained focussed and delivered positive outcomes for the people of 
the City with the available resources, the Council and CRCCG undertook a 
programme of work to review and then re-commission support across four priority 
groups: carers; people with physical impairments or dementia; mental health 
conditions; and adults with learning disabilities.  Voluntary and third sector providers 
were fully engaged in the process of the review, including the setting of the priority 
areas and outcomes.  Stakeholder views were also actively sought to support the 
development of proposals for future services.

As well as targeting support on priority groups, the review work also sought to deliver 
a saving for the Council of £0.5m for delivery in 2018/19 from the existing Council 
spend of £3.01m per annum as part of the budget setting process in February 2017.

The Committee questioned officers on aspects of the report, including:-

 Why the decision was taken to grant fund as opposed to commission and 
the flexibility of grant funding

 The process for publishing the for grant applications

 Whether transition from Childrens to Adult services had been considered

 How does the prevention grant here link with the work of the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan and their work streams on 
prevention

 Process for monitoring and feedback on progress

RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee request that a 
follow up report be submitted monitoring progress following implementation 
of the new grants. 

39. West Midlands Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Feedback 

The Committee received and noted feedback from the Chair, Councillor R Brown, 
on the West Midlands Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

40. Outstanding Issues 

The Committee noted that all outstanding issues had been dealt with in the 
Committee’s Work Programme.

41. Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Work Programme 2017/2018 

Page 6



– 5 –

The Committee received and noted their Work Programme for the current Municipal 
Year.

RESOLVED:-

1) That in relation to the meeting to be held on 20 December, 2017, the 
City’s three MP’s be invited to attend for the item on Taxi Licensing

2) That consideration of issues relating to parking around schools 
during drop off and pick up times be added to the Work Programme

3) That consideration be given to raising the profile of Scrutiny via the 
media and social media

42. Any Other Items of Public Business 

There were no additional items of urgent public business.

43. Preventative Support - Adult Services 

Further to Minute 38 above, the Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive (People) that set out confidential aspects in relation to the proposed 
award of community based preventative support grant funding for Adult Services.

RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee request that a follow 
up report be submitted monitoring progress following implementation of the 
new grants. 

44. Any Other Items of Private Business 

There were no additional items of urgent private business.

(Meeting closed at 12.00 pm)

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 Briefing note 

To:  Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee                                                                                                   
Date: 20th December 2017

Subject: Taxi-Licensing

1 Purpose of the Note

1.1 To provide Members with background to a presentation that will be given at the meeting on 
20th December 2017. The presentation will provide a strategic overview of the current 
position in relation to taxi-licensing, including the context in which local authorities operate, 
the current legislative context and potential developments and recent market changes. 

2 Recommendations

2.1 The Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee is recommended to:

1) Consider the content of the presentation to be given at the meeting on the 20th 
December 2017

2) Identify any recommendations to Cabinet Members, government and partner 
organisations.

3 Information/Background

3.1 Following the on-going debate in the city on the changes to the market in which taxis 
operate, it was agreed that the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee would consider the issue.  
To help inform the Committee’s considerations, in addition to a presentation from the 
Director, Streetscene and Regulatory Services, Marcus Jimenez, General Manager from 
Central Taxis and Alan Lewis from Unite have also been invited to attend and give 
evidence. 

3.2 Taxi-licensing is regulated by legislation which provides the framework in which local 
authorities can operate. The presentation will explain the context this context, review recent 
market changes and identify information to help support Members in making 
recommendations. 

Adrian West
Members and Elections Team Manager
adrian.west@coventry.gov.uk 
024 7683 2286

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

mailto:adrian.west@coventry.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Public report

Cabinet

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 20 December 2017
Cabinet 9 January 2018

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor Duggins

Director approving submission of the report:
Chief Executive

Ward(s) affected:
Not applicable

Title:
Council Plan 2017/18 half-year performance report

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

The Council Plan is Coventry City Council’s corporate plan. It sets out the Council’s strategic 
direction and priorities for the city: the Council seeks to promote the growth of a sustainable 
economy; is committed to reform so that everybody, including our most vulnerable residents, can 
share in the benefits of the city’s growth; underpinned by a Council that enables communities to 
solve local problems, at a time when the Council has to deliver its priorities with fewer resources.

This 2017/18 half-year performance report sets out the progress made towards the Council Plan 
from April to September 2017. The report uses indicators, contextual information, and 
comparative information to describe and explain how performance of the city and the Council 
compares to previous years, and to other places.

Recommendations:

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee is asked to:

1. Consider the Council’s performance this half-year, as set out in the performance 
report.

2. Identify any issues they may wish to raise to Cabinet.
3. Identify areas that Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee or other Scrutiny Boards may 

wish to address as part of this year’s scrutiny work programme.

Cabinet is asked to:

1. Consider any recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee.
2. Approve the performance report.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=11563&Ver=4
http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=11479&Ver=4
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councillors/54/george_duggins
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/6/council_structure/25/our_strategic_management_board/2
https://coventry-city-council.github.io/boundaries/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/


3. Consider the Council’s performance this year and identify areas that they wish to 
address in further detail.

List of appendices included:
Appendix I – Council Plan 2017/18 half-year performance report
Appendix II – Performance management framework
Appendix III – Table of indicators

Background papers:
None 

Other useful documents:
Council Plan www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/ 
Previous performance reports www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/ 
Council Plan performance indicator open data https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData 
Performance management framework https://smarturl.it/PMF

Composite liveability measure www.coventry.gov.uk/cclm/
Composite liveability measure (maps) https://coventry-city-council.github.io/cclm/ 

Equality objectives www.coventry.gov.uk/equality/
Statement of accounts www.coventry.gov.uk/statementofaccounts/

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
Yes – Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 20 December 2017

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No

Will this report go to Council?
No 

Page 12

https://smarturl.it/CovPerf1718Half
https://smarturl.it/PMF
https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData
https://smarturl.it/PMF
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/cclm/
https://coventry-city-council.github.io/cclm/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/equality/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/statementofaccounts/


Report title: Council Plan 2017/18 half-year performance report

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Council Plan is Coventry City Council’s corporate plan. It sets out the Council’s vision 
and priorities for the city. The current plan is for the period 2014 to 2024, and was last 
revised in July 2016.

1.2 The Council seeks to promote the growth of a sustainable economy; is committed to reform 
so that everybody, including our most vulnerable residents, can share in the benefits of the 
city’s growth; underpinned by a Council that is enabling communities to solve local 
problems, at a time when the Council has to deliver its priorities with fewer resources.

1.3 The 2017/18 half-year performance report (Appendix I) sets out the progress made towards 
the Council Plan from April to September 2017. The report uses indicators, contextual 
information, and comparative information to describe and explain how the performance of 
the city and the Council compares to previous years, and to other places. Where possible, 
the report compares progress with previous years; and where previous data is unavailable, 
the data forms the baseline against which to measure future progress. 

1.4 More details, including a publication schedule, trends, comparator data, progress reports, 
maps, additional infographics, and references, is available on the Council’s information and 
statistics hub at www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/. Open data is also published on GitHub 
at https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData. 

1.5 The Council’s priorities are delivered through strategies aligned to the Council Plan; as set 
out in the performance management framework. As part of the performance management 
process, leadership teams within each directorate and the corporate leadership team have 
been involved in ensuring that strategies and priorities are aligned to the overall Council 
Plan.

1.6 This report also includes data that set out the impact and progress made this year for 
groups with protected characteristics as set out in the Council’s equality objectives, and 
towards the Council’s Marmot (health inequalities) agenda.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The Council Plan performance report is currently measured using 67 indicators. At half 
year, 31 indicators improved or stayed the same; 13 indicators got worse; we can’t say for 
7 indicators; and progress is not available for the remaining 16 indicators either because 
they are indicators updated less frequently or because data is not currently available. This 
means, at half year, 70% of directional indicators (excluding can’t say or not applicable) 
have improved or stayed the same. The number of indicators without any progress update 
is to be expected at half-year. This progress has been made in the context of continued 
and sustained reduction in the overall resources available to the Council – with the Council 
receiving £107m less core government grant in 2017/18 than the equivalent figure it 
received in 2010/11.

2.2 The performance report not only sets out how the Council is performing towards its 
priorities, but also, as many of the Council’s key priorities have an equality dimension or 
address an inequality caused by social deprivation, the report also sets out how the Council 
is addressing these inequalities. Detailed progress updates illustrating the Council’s 
progress towards its equalities objectives and Marmot priorities (health inequalities) are 
discussed at relevant Cabinet Member meetings as appropriate.

Page 13

https://smarturl.it/CovPerf1617
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData


2.3 Members are asked to consider the Council’s performance towards the Council’s priorities 
as set out in the performance report, and to identify areas and issues to be addressed 
through relevant work programmes, boards, and committees.

2.4 The Council’s performance management framework (Appendix II) sets out how the Council 
plans and organises its resources to achieve its vision and priorities. Responding to the 
Council’s digital strategy to “maximise the value in our data and information”, officers have 
introduced new methods to improve transparency and good governance through 
streamlining the timeliness of performance reporting, including:
 online digital performance dashboards built on a balanced scorecard of metrics with 

some indicators kept up-to-date with data from the Council’s data warehouse – 
meaning that up-to-date performance information is made available instead of through 
formal performance reports; and 

 publishing more datasets online as open data, in particular, where data is frequently 
requested through Freedom of Information (FOI) requests, backed by a publication 
schedule – improving the experience for the public and significantly reducing the time 
spent by officers to respond to bespoke information requests.

2.5 Such changes may have implications on the way Cabinet (and other committees) currently 
sign-off performance reports. The intention is for officers to continue to develop some of the 
current ideas and thinking around performance management and target-setting, and will 
work with elected members over the year with a view to introduce a revised performance 
management framework for 2018/19 onwards.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 The Council has consulted with employee representatives, community and interest groups, 
and partner organisations to help the Council achieve its equality objectives.

3.2 Where appropriate, this report uses residents’ perceptions to help understand residents’ 
views of the Council and the city. These are typically collected through surveys, for 
instance, the household survey.

3.3 Taking into consideration feedback from elected members through discussion at Cabinet, 
Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee and meetings with the Council Leader and the Chair of 
the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Chair, this half-year report introduces:

 longer-term trends and comparisons, not just with the previous half-year / period, but 
over a longer time frame; and 

 more explanation about why certain indicators are used.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 The Council regularly monitors and reviews its performance as set out in the performance 
management framework (Appendix II). It also publishes regular updates about the 
performance of the city and the Council on the information and statistics web pages at 
www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/.

Page 14

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/digitalcoventry/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/


5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications
There are no financial implications for this report. 

5.2 Legal implications
The single data list sets out a list of all the datasets that local government must submit to 
central government. In addition, the Government’s local government transparency code 
sets out the minimum data that local authorities should be publishing; the frequency it 
should be published; and how it should be published. There is no requirement placed on 
local authorities to publish a report on its performance or any requirement on the Council to 
publish performance on any particular measures. 

Coventry City Council does so as it is committed to providing information that helps the 
Council work together with neighbours and partners, fulfilling its Council Plan priorities; and 
sees it as good practice to do so.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council’s key priorities?

The performance report sets out the progress made towards the Council Plan, that is, the 
Council’s key priorities. The performance management framework sets out how the Council 
plans and organises the resources at its disposal to achieve the vision and priorities, as set 
out in the Council Plan.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

The performance report helps the Council manage risk by measuring and reviewing 
progress in relation to the priorities of the Council Plan. It identifies areas where we are 
making good progress, areas where progress is not as expected, and areas where the 
Council needs to take corrective action. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The Council Plan impacts on the whole organisation. Effective performance management 
arrangements at all levels will help to ensure that the Council’s priorities are delivered.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

The Council’s performance management framework and reporting arrangements must 
have due regard to the public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010. This includes the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and 
victimisation; to meet the needs of people regardless of their background; and to 
encourage all people to participate in public life, or in other activities where their 
participation is low. 

The Council considers the majority of the key priorities set out in the Council Plan as 
equality objectives. This contributes to meeting the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) 
Regulations 2011.

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) the environment

Progress is measured through air quality measures, energy use, and carbon dioxide 
emissions from local authority operations.

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/single-data-list
http://goo.gl/ckGp0


6.6 Implications for partner organisations

Whilst this report reflects progress against the Council’s priorities, it also includes actions 
and measures where the contribution of partners is essential to their delivery.

Report author(s):

Names and job titles: 
Si Chun Lam 
Interim Insight Manager (Intelligence)

Directorate:
People

Tel and email contact:
+44 24 7683 3910
SiChun.Lam@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.
Contributors/approvers
Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
David Ashmore Director of Customer 

Service and 
Transformation

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Nene Ajibade Insight Assistant People 13/10/2017 23/11/2017
Barbara Barrett Head of Human 

Resources and 
Organisational 
Development

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Adrienne Bellingeri Head of Customer 
Service

People 07/09/2017 30/10/2017

Stella Botchway Consultant in Public 
Health Intelligence

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Martin Boyle Systems Data Officer People 20/11/2017 24/11/2017
Nigel Clews Director of Kickstart Place 24/11/2017 06/12/2017
Mandeep Chouhan Customer Services 

Manager
People 07/09/2017 06/12/2017

David Cockroft Director of City 
Centre & Major 
Projects

Place 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Kevin Coughlan Performance 
Manager (Data Team 
– Education, Early 
Years and YOS)

People 07/09/2017 20/11/2017

Tracy Cowley Highways Technical 
Team Manager

Place 07/09/2017 31/10/2017

Jane Craig Health Protection People 07/09/2017 12/10/2017
Natalie Daley Public Health 

Registrar
People 07/09/2017 06/10/2017

Page 16

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
tel:+44%2024%207683%203910


Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Amanda Durrant Head of Employment 
Services

People 07/09/2017 12/10/2017

Jeannette Essex Head of Student 
Services

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Tom Evans Senior Analyst People 07/09/2017 24/11/2017
Peter Fahy Director of Adult 

Services
People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Paul Ferris Performance 
Manager (Social 
Care & Communities)

People 07/09/2017 31/10/2017

Liz Gaulton Acting Director of 
Public Health

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Sarah Gill Energy and Low 
Carbon Placement 
Student

Place 07/09/2017 25/09/2017

John Gregg Director of Children’s 
Services

People 24/11/2017 03/12/2017

Paul Hargrave Senior 
Commissioning 
Manager

People 07/09/2017 20/10/2017

Nigel Hart Head of 
Communications

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Louise Hewitt Research and 
Statistical Officer

Place 07/09/2017 03/11/2017

Nadia Inglis Consultant in Public 
Health

People 07/09/2017 01/11/2017

Paul Jennings Finance Manager 
(Corporate Finance)

Place 07/09/2017 26/10/2017

Philip Johnson HR Advisor People 07/09/2017 03/11/2017
Colin Knight Director of 

Transportation and 
Highways

Place 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Lara Knight Governance Services 
Co-ordinator

Place 24/11/2017

Myran Larkin Senior HR Advisor People 07/09/2017 31/10/2017
Martin McHugh Street Enforcement 

Manager
Place 06/09/2017 24/10/2017

Bev McLean Performance 
Information Officer

People 31/08/2017 24/11/2017

Sarah Mills Head of Education 
Entitlement

People 23/11/2017 06/12/2017

Richard Moon Director of Project 
Management & 
Property Services

Place 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Kirston Nelson Director of Education, 
Libraries & Adult 
Learning

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Lee Pardy-McLaughlin Principal Child and 
Family Social Worker

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Page 17



Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief 
Executive (People)

People 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Glen Robinson Highways Asset 
Management 
Engineer

Place 07/09/2017 24/10/2017

Yeng Yeng Shang Analyst, Insight 
(Intelligence)

People 17/11/2017 24/11/2017

Louise Slevin Information Officer Place 07/09/2017 31/10/2017
Jatinder Surpal Analyst, Insight 

(Intelligence)
People 17/11/2017 24/11/2017

Barrie Strain Senior Operational 
Manager Revenue

Place 07/09/2017 13/10/2017

Andrew Walster Director of 
Streetscene & 
Regulatory Services

Place 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Andy Williams Head of Economic 
Growth

Place 07/09/2017 25/10/2017

David Woodhouse Lead Performance 
Analyst

People 07/09/2017 27/10/2017

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place)

Place 24/11/2017 06/12/2017

Names of approvers for submission: 
(officers and members)
Finance: Barry Hastie Director of Finance & 

Corporate Services
Place 24/11/2017 29/11/2017

Legal: Julie Newman Legal Services 
Manager and Acting 
Monitoring Officer

Place 27/11/2017 30/11/2017

Director: Martin 
Reeves

Chief Executive 24/11/2017 07/12/2017

Members: Cllr Duggins Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Leadership

28/11/2017 12/12/2017

This report is published on the Council’s website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings/

Page 18

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings/


 

2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

April to September 2017

Council Plan

17/11/2017
www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/

Insight Team

December 2017

  

Page 19



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 

 

 

Overview
 

Council Plan 

 

 

Indicators 
The Council uses a number of indicators agreed with managers to 
show progress made towards its priorities. This is supported by a 
wider basket of measures such as equality and perception 
measures that help explain the trends and story behind the 
headlines. Where possible, indicators are selected from key 
strategies and aligned to directorate priorities. 
 

Abbreviations & symbols used 
Bold text indicates core indicators 
SN = Statistical neighbours (similar authorities) 
WMCA = West Midlands Combined Authority area 
WMR = West Midlands Region 
 

Symbol Progress Target 

 

Improved On-target 

 

Got worse Off-target 

 

Stayed the same / statistically insignificant – 

 

No clear direction of travel or not possible to say at this 
point in time. 

– 

 

No updated data / not available No target 
set 

 

 

 

www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/ 
 

www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/

Coventry: A Top Ten City

Council Plan 2016–2024

Globally connected
Promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy 

Locally committed
Improving the quality of life for Coventry people 

Delivering our priorities
with fewer resources

Supporting 

businesses to grow

Creating the 

infrastructure

Developing 

the city centre

Raising the 

profile of Coventry

Helping local 

people into jobs

Reducing the 

impact of poverty

Supply, choice & 

quality of housing

Arts, sports & cultural 

opportunities

Create an attractive, 

cleaner & greener city

Make 

communities safer

Improving 

educational outcomes

Improve health 

and wellbeing

Protecting our most 

vulnerable people

Reducing 

health inequalities

Making the most 

of our assets

Active communities & 

empowered citizens

 

Page 20

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/


Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Executive summary 
 

Globally connected: promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy 
The number of enterprises in the city continues to grow. Over time, this 
will increase business rates. At half year, the forecasted in-year 
business rates collection rate is higher than the level reported at the 
same point last year. 
 
One Friargate, the first building in the city’s new business district, 
opened in October. 
 
City centre footfall is increasing. This is in contrast to a decrease 
nationally. The growing number of people in the city centre, particularly 
students, is attracting private sector investment into Cathedral Lanes, 
Upper Precinct, and City Centre South. 
 
Being a part of the UK City of Culture 2021 bid has already brought 
communities together to celebrate the rich heritage and unique 
qualities of the city, helping to raise the profile of the city. 
 
The overall rate of unemployment and young people not in education, 
employment or training continues to fall, however remain above the 
national average. The Council is investing to improve the skills and 
employability of local residents, in particular, for young people. 
 
There has been a growth in the number of properties, in particular, 
larger properties. The local plan and city centre action plan has been 
approved as sound and legally compliant, enabling the city to meet the 
growing demand for housing. 

 
 Of the 17 headline indicators in globally connected, 92% of directional indicators (11/12) 
have improved/stayed the same at 2017/18 half year. 

 
 

Locally committed: improving the quality of life for Coventry people 
The city’s road networks were recognised as one of the best earlier this 
year. This is reflected in the decrease in the number of potholes 
reported. 
 
A new household waste and recycling collection service launched in 
September, and food waste is now separated for composting. 
However, the number of fly-tips reported has increased, and is very 
likely to exceed the target by end of year. 
 
Crime has increased. The main increase in thefts are in thefts from 
motor vehicles. There is, however, a decrease in the number of first 
time entrants to the youth justice system. 
 
The vast majority of primary school pupils continue to attend schools 
rated good/outstanding, and the gap with the national average at key 
stage 2 has narrowed further. However, only three quarters of 
secondary pupils attend schools are rated good / outstanding, and 
provisional key stage 4 results indicate performance is below the 
national average. 
 
The city’s children’s social care services has seen a marked 
improvement, and is now judged as “requires improvement to be 
good”. Indicators on repeat referrals and placement stability are seeing 
improvement. In adult social care, there has been a decrease in the 
number of service users receiving long-term support perhaps reflecting 
better use of community support. 
 

 
 Of the 44 headline indicators in locally committed, 61% of directional indicators (17/28) 
have improved/stayed the same at 2017/18 half year. 

 
   

  
 

 

   Improved
11

Got worse
1

Not applicable
5

Globally connected

17
headline

indicators

  
 

 

✒

Improved
12

Stayed the same
5

Got worse
11

Can't say
6

Not applicable
10

Locally committed

44
headline

indicators

Page 21



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

There is an increasing challenge around homelessness, particularly, 
around the cost, both in terms of financial and poor outcomes, around 
placements in temporary bed and breakfast accommodation. 
 
In health and wellbeing, progress has been made towards the “better 
health, better care and better value” plan. A new substance misuse 
provider, cgl, has begun operation, and the city has been successful in 
becoming a Making Every Adult Matter approach area to support 
people experiencing multiple complex needs. 
 

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources 
The city continues to be successful in attracting external funding, in 
particular, for capital schemes. However, the current projection 
indicates that a lower level of external grant will be applied next year. 
 
More residents are now choosing to use the Council’s self-service and 
online channels of communication. Face-to-face and telephone 
channels remain available for those who need it at the one-stop 
customer service centre. 
 
As the Council’s workforce continues to reduce in size, the Council is 
looking at new ways of working with residents and communities. This 
includes piloting new ways of working with community groups, to 
strengthen the viability and financial sustainability of community based 
organisations; and shift relationships between public and community 
based organisations to a basis of equal partnership and sharing of 
resources. 
 
A second devolution deal for the West Midlands Combined Authority 
has been agreed in principle, to help address local productivity barriers. 

 
 Of the 6 headline indicators in locally committed, 75% of directional indicators (3/4) have 
improved/stayed the same at 2017/18 half year. 

 

Overall summary 
The Council Plan performance report is currently measured using 67 
indicators. 
 
At half year, 31 indicators improved or stayed the same; 13 indicators 
got worse; we can’t say for 7 indicators; and progress is not available 
for the remaining 16 indicators either because they are indicators 
updated less frequently or because data is not currently available. 
 
This means, at half year, 70% of directional indicators (excluding can’t 
say or not applicable) have improved or stayed the same. This 
compares to 75% (43/57) at end of year 2016/17, and 76% (34/45) at 
half-year 2016/17. 
 
The number of indicators without any progress update is to be 
expected at half-year. This progress has been made in the context of 
continued and sustained reduction in the overall resources available to 
the Council. 

 
 Of the 67 headline indicators overall, 70% of directional indicators (31/44) have 
improved/stayed the same at 2017/18 half year. Note: the percentage figures now exclude can’t 
say / not applicable figures. This differs from previous reports when can’t say / not applicable were 
included in the calculations. 

 

  

£
 

Improved
3

Got worse
1

Can't say
1

Not applicable
1

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources

6
headline

indicators

Improved
26

Stayed the same
5

Got worse
13

Can't say
7

Not applicable
16

101
headline

indicators
2011/12

100
headline

indicators
2012/13

55
headline

indicators
2013/14

77%
2011/12

83%
2012/13

78%
2013/14

58
headline

indicators
2014/15

64
headline

indicators
2015/16

68
headline

indicators
2016/17

65%
2014/15

82%
2015/16

75%
2016/17

Latest performance 2017/18 half year

Historic performance trends 2011/12 to 2016/17

67
headline

indicators

Page 22



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Supporting businesses to grow 
 

Trends 
The Council is keen to support businesses to grow by attracting inward 
investment; helping businesses expand; encouraging them to create 
jobs; improving access to skilled workers; and retaining skilled 
graduates in the area. A key measure of growth is gross value added 
(GVA), which measures the economic value generated by any 
business unit engaged in the production of goods and services. To 
compare regions of different sizes, the GVA per head figure is used. At 
£22,165 per head in 2015, Coventry’s GVA compares well to the 
average of £20,942 across the WMCA, but compares to £27,291 in 
Warwickshire and £26,159 in England. GVA growth across the West 
Midlands has grown slower than nationally. 
 
Growing the economy helps increase business rates, bringing in 
resources for the Council to provide services for residents. A number of 
indicators are used to give a comprehensive picture of business rates. 
These are: the tax base, rateable value, and the collection rate. The tax 
base gives the best indication as to whether business rates are 
growing but has large time lags; while the collection rate indicates how 
effectively the Council is collecting business rates that are owed.  
 
While there has been a slight decrease in the rateable value this half-
year, from £310m in April to £309.2m in September, Coventry’s 
rateable value has remained constant. Note that the rateable value is 
used as the basis for calculation and before any exemptions, rebates 
or refunds, and so it differs from what the Council actually collects or 
receives. The forecasted in-year collection rate of 97.2% is higher than 
the level reported at the same point last year (96.9%). 

 
 Change in gross value added per head in Coventry and comparators 

 
 Change in the business rates tax base (indexed to base year of 2002) Source: Local 
Government Association Financial Sustainability Analysis 

Actions 
The number of enterprises in Coventry continue to grow, with 10,065 
active enterprises in 2017. This represents a 6% growth from 2016; 
compared to 9% in the WMCA and 5% for England. Note that rates 
are based on a non-domestic property's rateable value, so an increase 
in enterprises may not correspond to an increase in rates. 
 
The Council currently runs three European Union European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) business support programmes, where 
£4.7m of grants have been made available for business within 
Coventry and Warwickshire. Since April, £1.6m have been awarded to 
businesses in the sub-region, which will lead to the creation of 256 
jobs. In addition, nine businesses have been assisted to bring new 
products to market; and 130 businesses supported to grow or make 
energy savings. Further bids will be made to ERDF to extend the 
current support programmes to 2021. 

 
 Change in enterprises in Coventry and comparators 

 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Gross value added 
(£ per head) income approach 

£22,165 
2015 

provisional 

Annual 
indicator 

£27,291 
Warks 
2015 

£20,942 
WMCA 
2015 

£20,826 
WMR 
2015 

£26,159 
England 

2015  

N/A 

 
Change in business rates tax 

base (index from 2002 base [100]) 
132.30 
2014/15 

132.74 
2015/16 

131.54 
CIPFA 

2015/16 

144.00 
England 
2015/16  

N/A 

 
Business rates rateable value* and 

collection rate 
£310m* 
97.8% 

2016/17 

£309.2m* 
97.2% 

Apr-Sep 2017 

97.3% 
All Metropolitan Districts 

2016/17  

£310m+ 

 

Enterprises (rate per 10,000 
residents aged 16+ and the number 

of firms) 

342 
(9,505) 
2016 

355 
(10,065) 

2017 

602 
Warks 
2017 

395 
WMCA 
2017 

518 
England 

2017  

N/A 

 
* The Valuation Office Agency adjusts the rateable value of business properties to reflect changes in the property market. The most recent revaluation of business rates came into effect in April 2017, based on rateable values from April 
2015, so figures have been adjusted and are different from the figures reported previously. 

England, £26,159 

WMR, £20,826 

Warks, £27,291 

WMCA, £20,942 

Coventry, £22,165 

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

1997 2000 2003 2006 2009 2012 2015

Gross value added per head

100
105
110
115
120
125
130
135
140
145
150

Trend of changes in business rateable value

Coventry WMCA England

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Number of enterprises per 10,000 adult population

Coventry WMCA

England West Midlands Region

Page 23



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Creating the infrastructure 
 

Trends/Actions 
The Council is working with partners to create the infrastructure for the 
city to grow and thrive by providing leadership to stimulate the Friargate 
business district near the railway station. Over the past few years, the 
Council has worked with the private sector developers of Friargate, the 
new business district by the railway station, to encourage businesses 
to relocate to the city. Upon completion, Friargate is expected to 
provide Grade A office buildings, shops, restaurants, hotels and new 
homes, landscaped public spaces and 15,000 new jobs. In October 
2017, the first building, One Friargate was completed, and over the 
course of six weeks, 1,350 Council employees formerly based in Civic 
Centres 1-4 moved into eight floor the new building, as well as staff of 
the Financial Ombudsman Service. 
 
The Council is also taking a leadership role in making the city more 
accessible for businesses, visitors and local people through better 
road, rail and digital connections. This year, the government’s 
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) selected 
Coventry & Warwickshire as one of six areas of the UK to test new 
ways of connecting offices and public-sector buildings with the next 
generation of broadband, full fibre networks that run fibre connections 
straight to the doors of customers’ homes or businesses (fibre to the 
premises). As part of the pilot, the Council’s economic development 
service will run a voucher scheme that will enable 100 businesses to 
connect with internet speeds of up to 1 gigabit per second, thereby 
enhancing their potential to trade internationally without the 
requirement for physical interaction. 
 
As the accountable body for the Coventry & Warwickshire Growth 
Deal, the Council is working to deliver major improvements to the city 
centre, including improvements to the railway station and associated 
city centre public realm works. These will play an important role in 
helping to accelerate the development of new commercial sites, attract 
new private sector investment into Coventry, and increase footfall for 
city centre retailers. 
 
Coventry Station has experienced high growth in passenger numbers, 
and it is now one of the busiest stations on the West Coast Main Line, 
connecting London to Birmingham and Glasgow. With the Friargate 
development, passenger demand is forecast to continue to increase 
significantly. In response, the Council and partners have developed a 
Coventry Station Masterplan to meet the future rail needs of the city. 
The project will deliver a new footbridge, bay platform, second station 
building and multi-storey car park, bus interchange and new highway 
infrastructure. This half-year, work has taken place to review and refine 
the procurement strategy to ensure best value for money is achieved, 
including market testing, delivery phasing and programme review. 

 

 
 One Friargate, the first building in the new business district, opened in November 

 
 Passenger activity at Coventry station is forecast to increase from circa 6.9m trips per 
annum today to 7.5m pa in 2023 and nearly 11m pa in 2043, contrasting with just 2.25m pa in 
2001. The station has suffered from a lack of investment and is experiencing capacity issues that will 
start to increasingly displace passenger activity to other stations and modes of transport. 

   

       

        

           

2.25m

6.9m

7.5m

11m

2001

2017

2023

2043

forecast

forecast

Passenger activity at Coventry railway station

Page 24



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Developing the city centre 
 

Trends 
City centres need to adapt to changing consumer habits. In Coventry, 
the Council is continuing to enhance the quality of public spaces; and 
working with partners to bring the city centre to life with a range of 
employment, leisure, education and retail opportunities. A key measure 
is the number of people visiting the city centre; an increase in footfall 
enhances the city centre’s desirability to retailers and restauranteurs 
alike, bringing in new jobs and a more vibrant city centre. 
 
In May, the footfall supplier replaced Coventry’s footfall counters; and 
this revealed that some previously reported figures required adjustment 
to get a more accurate picture of past trends. These adjustments 
reveal that footfall actually increased by 0.7% during 2016/17, as 
opposed to the 1.1% decrease previously reported. This means that 
the positive turnaround in footfall has been happening over a longer 
period than previously thought. Footfall across the city centre was 
1.2% higher in April to September this year compared to the same 
period last year. Improvement in evening footfall has been greater than 
during the daytime; evening footfall over this period increased by 3.4%. 
The location with the greatest increase in footfall, in percentage terms 
and in total volume, was Lower Precinct; with footfall flowing from 
Broadgate Square into Lower Precinct up 7.1%. However, footfall in 
City Arcade was down by 15.9%. The trend is clearly positive 
compared to a 2.9% decrease nationally. This continues the positive 
performance during 2016/17, and the rate of increase has improved 
further. This is a positive change of trend; up until late-2015, footfall had 
been falling year-on-year. 

 
 Since 2015/16, Coventry’s footfall has increased, in particular, evening footfall. Note: years 
are all April to March, except for latest period which show half-year data (April to September). 

Actions 
The Council is encouraging more people to live and work in the city 
centre, which encourages investment into its redevelopment. 
Investment attracts new jobs; helps attract and retain new skills; 
attracts new visitors and customers; and makes Coventry more 
attractive as a destination. It also brings the Council increased revenue 
from business rates, helping sustain public services. In line with the 
local plan and the city centre area action plan, the Council is working to 
encourage companies to relocate to Friargate, the city’s new business 
district. It is also encouraging the development of purpose-built student 
accommodation near the two university campuses and the city’s retail, 
community and recreational offer. This not only reduces the pressures 
on family homes being converted into houses in multiple occupation 
(HIMOs), but also creates a critical mass of people living in the city 
centre in order to support a more vibrant city centre. In late-2015, 
Cathedral Lanes was transformed with the opening of three new 
restaurants. This could be a factor in the increase in footfall from late-
2015, particularly evening footfall. This year, Phase 2 redevelopment 
plans at Cathedral Lanes have been approved. This is expected to 
bring five more restaurants, plus a gym, with construction expected in 
2018. Further progress this year include construction of the city’s new 
landmark waterpark and leisure centre; progress on City Centre South 
such as plans to purchase long leasehold property interests; and plans 
to modernise and revitalise Upper Precinct, including transforming 
empty upper units into student accommodation. 

 
 There is private sector interest in redeveloping Coventry City Centre. In Upper Precinct, 
there are plans to refresh and expand the retail units; bring empty upper floors back into 
active use with the provision of new student accommodation; and create a new entrance into 
West Orchards shopping centre. 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

City centre footfall 
(year-on-year % change) 

+0.7% 
2016/17 revised 

+1.2% 
Apr-Sep 2017 

-2.9% 
UK index 

Apr-Sep 2017  

N/A 

 
 

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Apr-Sep 2017

Change in footfall

Change in overall footfall (Coventry)

Change in evening footfall (Coventry)

Change in overall footfall (UK Index)

Page 25



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Raising the profile of Coventry + arts, sports & cultural opportunities 
 

Trends 
The city is raising its profile by developing its economic, business and 
trade links with other cities and regions around the world. In recent 
years, Coventry has seen significant Chinese investment, and interest 
from Chinese organisations remains high. Coventry’s rising profile has 
been recognised internationally: this year, the Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) picked the 
Coventry and Warwickshire sub-region as the English case study as 
part of an international benchmarking project into how regions across 
OECD member countries have adopted to modernising and 
diversifying their economies through the growth of emerging industries. 
 
The Council is also promoting Coventry as a visitor destination and 
centre for arts & culture; sports & leisure; music & events; and has 
invested £250,000 into the City of Culture 2021 bid. The bid champions 
Coventry’s reputation as a city of reinvention, of resilience, of peace 
and reconciliation, and of youth and diversity; and the Coventry City of 
Culture Trust, the team behind the bid, estimated the title would bring 
Coventry a direct economic impact of £349m, including £100m in 
tourism in 2021. In July, it was announced that, out of 11 applications, 
Coventry was successfully shortlisted alongside Paisley, Stoke, 
Sunderland, and Swansea. 

 
 Number of day visits, overnight stays and total visitor spend as a result of tourism in 
Coventry. Source: Coventry tourism economic impact assessments, 2011, 2013 and 2015. 

 
 
 

Actions 
In the last six months, Coventry & Warwickshire have hosted eight 
international delegations from government officials and businesses 
looking for potential investment opportunities. These events have been 
an opportunity to profile the region’s excellent relationships with partner 
organisations, our two world-class universities, our technical assets 
and fantastic support services on offer. 
 
According to the Coventry City of Culture Trust, the bid programme 
has attracted £2m in funding so far, and has secured over 100 
expressions of support from the private sector. Events organised with 
the support of the Bid include a photography exhibition of Masterji’s 
work at Fargo Village, and a concert at Warwick Arts Centre featuring 
Positive Youth Foundation’s Electric Proms. The Coventry City of 
Culture Trust led campaigns to promote the bid, producing an online 
short film and a magazine. The final bid was submitted by hand in a 
Coventry-made taxi in September 2017, and the judges visited 
Coventry in October 2017. They met with community groups, and 
toured the Cathedral, Fargo Village, the Herbert Art Gallery and 
Museum, and the CET Building (former Coventry Telegraph HQ). A 
final presentation will be made to the judges in Hull, with a final 
decision expected on 8 December 2017. If successful, officers have 
recommended to Cabinet £4.75m of corporate reserves to be awarded 
to the City of Culture build up programme, title year and legacy 
programme between 2018 and 2024. In addition, a plan to build on the 
momentum via the Cultural Strategy 2017-2027 will endure and remain 
vibrant, whether or not the city is successful in its bid. 

 
 Coventry’s UK City of Culture 2021 bid 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Visitor trips 7,973,000 
2015 

Biennial 
indicator 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
 

7,100,000 7,575,000 7,350,000

842,000
642,000 624,000

2011 2013 2015

Coventry tourism economic impact assessment

day visits overnight stays

£377m
total visitor spend

£419m
total visitor spend

£385m
total visitor spend

“The award of UK City of Culture represents more than a title. As the bidding 

process has already demonstrated, it is an opportunity to create new 

partnerships, to bring communities together and to celebrate the rich heritage 

and unique qualities of a city. It is also an opportunity, through culture, to raise 

the profile of a city, to attract new investors and to enable significant 

regeneration in and of the place. The city effectively has the benefit of the title 

for seven years from announcement, through delivery year to three years 

legacy.”

The Coventry City of Culture Trust estimated that 

media coverage of Coventry’s arts scene was 

equivalent to £11m in paid advertisements; their 

Twitter account, @Coventry2021, has over 6,200 

followers, and the #thisiscoventry tag trended over 

social media to let the public share their view of 

Coventry.

Page 26



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Helping local people into jobs 
 

Trends 
Coventry has a working age population (aged 16-64) of 234,300. In the 
year to June 2017, 173,400 are economically active (73.1%); including 
165,800 in employment (69.9%), and 8,700 unemployed (5%). 
Unemployment has continued to fall, but remains higher than the 
national rate of 4.6%. Unemployment figures are model-based 
estimates of International Labour Organisation) ILO unemployment, 
and includes people who are either out of work, want a job, have 
actively sought work in the previous four weeks and are available to 
start work within the next fortnight; or out of work and have accepted a 
job that they are waiting to start in the next fortnight. They are modelled 
by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) by combining Labour Force 
Survey (LFS) data with auxiliary or covariate information (usually from 
Census or administrative sources). 
 
One way to reduce future unemployment is to ensure that young 
people begin their working lives productively. A key measure is 
whether or not young people are not in education, employment or 
training (NEET). Key reasons for young people becoming NEET 
include being young parents; exclusion from school; low educational 
attainment; and those eligible for free school meals (a proxy for 
deprivation). Young people who are NEET are associated with a wide 
range of social disadvantages later in life, including poor employment 
prospects, social alienation, delinquency, and mental and physical 
health problems. There are two key measures of NEET – a revised 
Department for Education indicator tracking 16-17 year olds, and 18-24 
year olds NEETs. Only the former is available at a local level. The 
latest data, for end-2016 (based on December 2016, January 2017, 
February 2017 data), shows that 6.8% of Coventry’s 16-17 year olds 
are NEET (including not knowns), an improvement from 8.2% a year 
ago. 

 
 Changing level of unemployment in Coventry (all Jul-Jun data) 

 
 Young people not in education, employment and training in Coventry and comparators 

 

Actions 
The Council is keen that residents share in the benefits of sustainable 
growth, by helping local people into jobs through improving 
employability through access to skills and qualifications; and creating 
routes into work, including apprenticeship opportunities. Through the 
Ambition Coventry programme, employment and training support has 
been provided to over 500 young people not in education, employment 
or training. In addition, the Routes to Ambition programme, aimed at 
15-24 year old at risk of NEET, has started delivery.  

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Average resident employment 
rate 

68.9% 
Jan-Dec 16 

69.9% 
Jul 16-Jun 17 

67.1% 
WMCA 

Jul 16-Jun 17 

72.0% 
WMR 

Jul 16-Jun 17 

74.6% 
England 

Jul 16-Jun 17  

N/A 

 
Unemployment rate 

(model based) 
5.4% 

Jan-Dec 16 
5.0% 

Jul 16-Jun 17 
6.5% 

WMCA 
Jul 16-Jun 17 

5.1% 
WMR 

Jul 16-Jun 17 

4.6% 
England 

Jul 16-Jun 17  

N/A 

 
16-17 year olds not in education, 
employment or training (NEET) 

including not knowns 

8.2% 
End 2015 

6.8% 
End 2016 

7.3% 
WMCA 

End 2016 

6.0% 
England 

End 2016  

National 
average 

 

Residents aged 16-64 qualified to 
NVQ level 4+ 

33.7% 
Jan-Dec 16 

Annual 
indicator 

29.0% 
WMCA 

Jan-Dec 16 

31.5% 
WMR 

Jan-Dec 16 

37.9% 
England 

Jan-Dec 16  

N/A 

 
 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

2
0

0
4
/0

5

2
0

0
5
/0

6

2
0

0
6
/0

7

2
0

0
7
/0

8

2
0

0
8
/0

9

2
0

0
9
/1

0

2
0

1
0
/1

1

2
0

1
1
/1

2

2
0

1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0

1
4
/1

5

2
0

1
5
/1

6

2
0
1
6
/1

7

Unemployment rate

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

16-18 year olds not in education, employment or training

Coventry West Midlands Region England
Note: 2016 data show young people with unknown destinations ("not knowns") in a lighter shade, as well 
as known NEETs. Data from previous years only show known NEETs.

Page 27



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Reducing the impact of poverty 
 

Trends 
According to the 2015 English indices of multiple deprivation, Coventry 
is ranked 55th out of 326 local authorities in terms of the proportion of the 
area’s population living amongst the most deprived ‘lower super output’ 
areas’ of the country (extent measure). In terms of children in relative 
poverty, child poverty action group estimates suggests that in October-
December 2015, between 11% (Wainbody) and 47% (Foleshill) of 
Coventry children were in relative poverty after housing costs (citywide 
average of 31%). 
 

Historically, the Council tracks these via measures of material wealth for 
people in work – specifically, median annual pay for residents (overall, 
and full-time) and gross disposable household income (a measure of 
money available to spend or save after distributional effects such as 
taxes, social contributions and benefits) – and people out-of-work via 
the claimant count. However, welfare reform has made claimant count 
data meaningless for the purposes of showing the changing level of 
unemployment: fewer claimants meet the threshold for universal credit 
than under jobseekers allowance, and so, the change in claimant count 
reflects government policy instead of unemployment. 
 

With the roll-out of universal credit full service, areas where full service is 
rolled out is seeing an increase in claimant count for the same level of 
underlying unemployment – making the claimant count meaningless for 
comparing different areas, for instance, between Warwickshire where 
full service has been rolled out and claimant count has increased, and 
Coventry, where full service has not fully been rolled out and therefore 
has not seen an increase in claimant count yet.  

 
 Median annual pay (overall) for Coventry residents and comparators 

 

 
 Gross disposable household income (GDHI) for Coventry residents and comparators 

 

Actions  
Every two months, the Welfare Reform Working Together Planning 
Group meets to ensure local services work together to mitigate the 
impact of welfare reform. Universal Credit full service will be rolled out in 
July 2018 and there are concerns that it will lead to further indebtedness 
and destitution. The group is currently working on a universal credit 
communication strategy which builds on previous actions focused on 
the benefit cap and the changes to Council tax support. The Council is 
also supporting Feeding Coventry, an independent charity working 
towards a hunger-free Coventry by 2020, as well as the development of 
sustainable and just food policies. This year, the charity funded school 
holiday projects, providing food and activities for children in the most 
marginalised areas of the city, and in November, the charity launched 
the Coventry Food Charter, which sets out a vision for what the city can 
do about food poverty. It recognises the need to deal with both 
emergency food crises and the development of a sustainable and 
secure food system. The charity also launched the Real Junk Food 
Project, which provides breakfast twice a week in Foleshill under a pay 
as you feel scheme using surplus food collected from a wide range of 
establishments, including supermarkets, restaurants, and wholesalers. 

 
 Attendees of the Coventry food charter launch signed the poster to declare their 
commitment to the project 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Median annual pay for residents 
(full-time) 

£27,969 
2016 

revised  

£28,432 
2017 

provisional 

£26,304 
WMCA 

2017 provisional 

£26,857 
WMR 

2017 provisional 

£29,085 
England 

2017 provisional  

N/A 

 
Median annual pay  £22,116 

2016 
revised 

£23,055 
2017 

provisional 

£21,778 
WMCA 

2017 provisional  

£22,259 
WMR 

2017 provisional 

£23,743 
England 

2017 provisional  

N/A 

 
Gross disposable household 

income per head 
£14,527 

2015 
provisional 

Annual 
indicator 

14,768 
WMCA 
2015 

16,559 
WMR 
2015 

19,447 
England 

2015  

N/A 

 
 

 £18,000

 £19,000

 £20,000

 £21,000

 £22,000

 £23,000

 £24,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Median annual pay (overall)

Coventry WMCA WMR England

Gross disposable household income per head

£0

£2,000

£4,000

£6,000

£8,000

£10,000

£12,000

£14,000

£16,000

£18,000

£20,000 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

£19,109 UK 
up 44% from 2001

£20,289
Warwickshire  up 
40% from 2001

£14,527 Coventry
Up 29% from 2001

£15,840 All 
metropolitan 
districts up 37% 
from 2001

Page 28



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Supply, choice & quality of housing 
 

Trends 
Following a period of public examination, Coventry’s new local plan 
and city centre area action plan has been approved as sound and 
legally compliant by the independent inspector (Rebecca Philips) 
appointed by the government. Once ratified by full Council, the plans 
will become the basis for determining future planning applications. The 
plan embraces the city’s growth and identifies land for new homes, 
new jobs and new retail and community uses, including the removal of 
land from the city’s green belt; support regeneration proposals in the 
city centre; and supports joint working with neighbouring authorities to 
maximise the benefit of national developments such as HS2. 
 
The local plan sets out to ensure that Coventry has a suitable supply, 
choice and quality of housing – increasing the housing stock overall 
(measured through council tax base, number of properties, and 
collectible value) and in particular, to meet the demand for larger family 
homes (measured through properties in the higher Council Tax 
bands). 
 
The Council tax collectable value has increased from £130.48m to 
£140.71m. The amount of Council tax collectible continues to increase 
due to a buoyant property base; a reduction in the number of people 
needing to claim council tax support; and an increase in Council tax. 
The city has also seen a growth in the properties in Council tax bands 
C to H, which has increased by 219 from 41,370 to 41,589; faster than 
the increase overall. The forecasted in-year collection rate remains on 
target and is higher than the 95.9% reported at this stage in 2016/17. 

 
 Median monthly rents in Coventry from 2010-11 to 2016-17 (all October-September except 
2016-17 which is April to March). Valuation Office Agency private rental market summary statistics. 

 
 Average house prices in Coventry from 2008-2017 (all July figures) Land Registry house price 
index data. 

Actions 
The Council is addressing the city’s housing shortage by encouraging 
the development of larger family homes, and purpose-built student 
accommodation. Coventry is co-operating with its neighbouring local 
authorities with a view to build 25,000 homes within the city’s 
boundary, and another 18,000 homes outside of the boundary. This 
includes affordable homes: Optivo, a housing association, is building 
52 two, three and four bedroom affordable homes on Deedmore 
Road, with completion expected in July 2018, and rents starting at 
£105.00 per week. The city has also seen a substantial growth in 
student numbers, from approximately 24,500 full-time students in 2005 
to 43,000 by 2015. In recent years, the city has seen a stepped 
increase in the number of purpose-built student accommodation being 
developed; a market response to not only the sustained growth in the 
student population but also the increasing status of both universities. 
Evidence from both universities suggest that there will be a continuing 
demand for purpose-built student accommodation – and indeed, 
another 30 sites are in the pipeline, with 22 under construction.  

 
 Map of purpose-built student accommodation in the city centre currently under 
construction / with approved planning permission. There are 8,050 bed spaces, of which 
5,191 are under construction. In addition, there are 1,787 where developers have expressed an 
interest but planning not yet submitted. 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Change in Council tax base (index 
from 2009 base [100]) 

106.67 
2016/17 

Annual indicator 106.63 
CIPFA 

2016/17 

107.75 
England 
2016/17  

N/A 

 
Council tax collectable value 

(number of properties) 
£130.48m 
(140,507) 
Mar 2017 

£140.71m 
(140,944) 
Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Properties in higher Council tax 

bands (C to H) 
29.44% 
(41,370) 
Mar 2017 

29.51% 
(41,589) 

Sep 2017 

35.23% 
WMCA 

Mar 2015 

55.74% 
England 
Mar 2015  

N/A 

 
Council tax collection rate 95.8% 

2016/17 
96.0% 

Apr-Sep 2017 
95.4% 

All Metropolitan Districts 
2016/17  

N/A 

 
 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Room Studio One
bedroom

Two
bedrooms

Three
bedrooms

Four or
more

bedrooms

All
categories

Median rents in Coventry (£ per month)

2010-11 2012-13 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

£200,000

£250,000

£300,000

£350,000

£400,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Average house prices in Coventry

all detached semi terraced flat

Page 29



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Create an attractive, cleaner & greener city 
 

Trends 
The Council is working with communities to maintain the street scene, 
parks and open spaces. It monitor the conditions of its roads and 
pavements, and reports them based on its classification into principal 
roads (A roads); non-principal roads (B and C roads); unclassified 
roads; and pedestrian footways/pavements. Under the Council’s 
highways asset management strategy, the focus is on maintaining the 
city’s principal road networks first; and also making repairs on a worst-
first basis. In March 2017, the city’s principal road network is 
recognised as one of the best with just 1% of A roads and 2% of B and 
C roads as being in need of work; and the National Highways & 
Transport Network public satisfaction survey showing Coventry as 
having the greatest percentage increase in public satisfaction for the 
speed and quality of repairs. In April to September 2017, there were 
132 potholes reported, down from 173 in the same period last year. 
This is a steady continuing downward trend in the number of reported 
potholes supported by the fact the network is in a good condition. 
 
Fly-tipping has increased, from 1,505 incidents (weighing 167.71 
tonnes) in April to September 2016, to 2,305 incidents (weighing 
205.18 tonnes) in April to September 2017. The Council is working to 
encourage people to reduce, reuse and recycle their waste. This half 
year, recycling champions have been busy running roadshows across 
the city, engaging with residents and groups to inform them of the 
changes to the refuse collection service – and recycling and 
composting has increased. 
 
* half-year figures 

 
 Potholes reported over time 

 
 Carriageway treated and footway sites improved over time 

 
 Fly-tips and household waste recycling over time 

Actions 
Waste: a new household waste and recycling collection service 
launched on 12 September. Collection of household waste moved 
from weekly to fortnightly; while collection of garden waste have been 
extended to all year round. A food waste caddy has been introduced, 
and residents are now able to recycle their food waste in both their 
brown-lidded or green-lidded bin; with food waste continued to be 
collected on a weekly basis. Early indications are positive and waste 
collected for disposal has decreased. In just over two weeks of service, 
over 1,200 tonnes of compostable material were generated citywide. 
 

Air quality: the Council continues to monitor air quality. The main 
pollutants of concern in Coventry are nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and 
particulate matter of less than 2.5 microns in diameter.  

 Structural refurbishment of the ring road is taking place in 2017/18 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Principal roads (A roads) in a good / 
acceptable condition 

99% 
2016/17 

Annual 
indicator 

 

N/A 

 

95% 

 

Non-principal roads (B & C roads) in 
a good / acceptable condition 

98% 
2016/17 

Annual 
indicator 

 

N/A 

 

95% 

 

Unclassified roads in a good / 
acceptable condition 

80% 
2016/17 

Annual 
indicator 

 

N/A 

 

80% 

 

Pedestrian footways / pavements in 
a good / acceptable condition 

36% 
2016/17 

Annual 
indicator 

 

N/A 

 

38% 

 

Fly-tips reported in the city 3,342 
2016/17 

2,030 
Apr-Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

<3,500 

 

Household waste recycled and 
composted 

29.9% 
2016/17 

 

35.5% 
Apr-Sep 2017 
provisional 

44.0% 
WMR 

2015/16 

43.0% 
England 
2015/16  

50%+ by 2020 

 
 

 
  

1,984

1,414

976
732

132

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18*

Potholes reported
In 2016/17, 173 potholes 
were reported at half-year.

There is a 24%
decrease in 
potholes reported.

54

39.2 40
36

11.1

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18*

Miles of carriageway treated

miles
+ 28 footway sites miles

+ 63 footway sites

miles
+ 50 footway 

sites

miles
+ 4.2 mi footway

2,508

2,811

2,316

3,342

2,030

0 1000 2000 3000 4000

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18*

Fly-tips reported

35.8%

34.1%

30.0%

29.9%

35.5%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18*

Household waste recycled

The Council is currently undertaking a 

£5.5 million structural refurbishment of 

substandard elements on the 

Swanswell viaduct between junctions 

1 to 4 of the Coventry ring road. This 

is funded by the Department for 

Transport local highways 

maintenance challenge fund.

Page 30



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

 

Make communities safer 
 

Trends 
The Council works in close partnership with partners on the Coventry 
Police and Crime Board to provide strategic and operational co-
ordination to make communities and reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour. In April to September 2017, total recorded crime in Coventry 
increased by 9.22%, with 12,164 offences recorded compared to 
11,137 in April to September 2016. There has been an increase in 
thefts from motor vehicle (+172; up 18.2%), common assault (+89), 
robbery of personal property (+80) and criminal damage to dwelling 
(+65). There has been a decrease in thefts from a shop or stall (-165; -
14.2%). Note that the recording of burglary offences changed in April. 
This means it is not possible to compare with previous years. However, 
it can be seen that burglary of residential dwellings has increased while 
burglary of businesses decreased. The Council also has a particular 
focus on hate crime, youth justice, and domestic violence and abuse: 
Hate crime: in April to September, there were 233 hate incidents 
(crime and non-crime) recorded; the vast majority were recorded as 
motivated by a hostility or prejudice based on race/ethnicity or 
perceived race/ethnicity (200). This is followed by followed by sexual 
orientation (19) and religion/belief (9). 
Youth justice: there has been five successive quarters where the 
numbers of first time entrants to the youth justice system has 
decreased. The 12-month rate to September is 20% lower than the 12 
months to March 2017. 
Domestic violence: there has been a 1% overall increase in domestic 
violence incidents reported: +4.8% crime; -1.6% non-crime. The top 
offences, accounting for 83% of incidents are: assault occasioning 
actual bodily harm; common assault, breach of non-molestation order; 
malicious wounding; criminal damage to dwelling; breach of restraining 
order; and harassment. The rate of repeat victims has remained stable 
with support to victims and management of repeat offenders likely to 
have an impact on figures. 

 
 Crime rate over time for Coventry, Birmingham and Wolverhampton. Data shown for year 
ending March 2007 up to and including year ending June 2017 (i.e. 2017/18 Q1), sourced from local 
police recorded crime data held by ONS, via Local Government Association LGInformPlus. 

 

Category Incidents 

Race/ethnicity 200 

Sexual orientation 19 

Religion/belief 9 

Disability <5 

Sex/gender/transgender <5 

Other/not stated <5 
 Hate crime in Coventry (crime and non-crime) Apr-Sep 

Actions 
The Council and partners are consulting on a new domestic abuse 
strategy, which aims to prevent domestic abuse; prepare by working 
with services; protect victims and survivors; and pursue perpetrators. 

 
 Flash facts from the Coventry domestic violence and abuse needs analysis 2017 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Crime rate per 1,000 
population & number of 

crimes 

66.3 
23,019 (8.43%) 
2016/17 revised 

28.61 
12,164 (9.22%) 

Apr-Sep 2017 

34.56 
Wolverhampton 
Apr-Sep 2017 

44.69 
Birmingham 

Apr-Sep 2017  

N/A 

 
First time entrants to youth justice 

system (rate per 100,000) 
432 

2016/17 
334 

Oct 16-Sep 17 
428 

Family group average 
(SN) 2016/17 

318 
England 
2016/17  

N/A 

 
Domestic violence (crime and 
non-crime) offences known to 

the police 

5,771 (3.4%) 
2016/17 

2,990 (1%) 
Apr-Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Repeat victims of domestic 

violence reported 
11.1% 

2016/17 revised 
11.4% 

Oct 16-Sep 17 
N/A 

 
 

N/A 

 
 

 
  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Crime rate per 1,000 (Coventry, Birmingham, 
Wolverhampton) quarterly rolling figures

Coventry Birmingham Wolverhampton

2,892
calls to Refuge helpline every year

98.2%
of people starting support with the 

safe and supported partnership 

are female

273
families receive support from the 

specialist children’s and families 

service Barnado’s Defuze every year

238
perpetrators of domestic violence and 

abuse starting support every year

Page 31



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Improving educational outcomes 
 

Trends/Actions 
 

The Council supports schools to ensure that children and young 
people receive a high quality education. As part of this, it offers a range 
of services to schools, from assessment, moderation, monitoring and 
data collection to outdoor education at Plas Dol-y-Moch. A key 
performance measure for education is the percentage of pupils 
attending schools judged as good or outstanding. In October 2017, 
96% of Coventry pupils attended good/outstanding primary schools. 
This was better than similar authorities and the national average. In 
secondary, the figure is 75%. Although this is a 7% point improvement 
on the previous year, it is below similar authorities and the national 
average of 83%. Meanwhile, in special schools, 100% of pupils attend 
good/outstanding special schools. 
 
The Council monitors results at the end of year 6 (key stage 2), year 11 
(key stage 4) and year 13 (key stage 5). At key stage 2, 58% of pupils 
reached the expected standard for reading, writing and maths in 2017. 
This is a 9% point increase from 49% last year, and the gap with the 
national average has narrowed to 3%. At key stage 4, the GCSE A* to 
G grades are being gradually replaced with grades 9 to 1, a grade 9 is 
the highest mark. In 2017, progress 8 (the key headline performance 
measure for secondary) decreased from -0.05 to -0.12 and is below 
the national figure of -0.03. There was also a decrease of 3% points in 
the percentage of pupils attaining a standard pass (grades 9-4) in 
English and maths. Note that these results should be treated with 
caution due to changes to the assessment framework. At key stage 5 
98% of students completing A levels achieved an A*-E grade, in line 
with national. The Council continues to provide the enabling 
infrastructure for school improvement and school-to-school support.  
 
Using GP registration data, the Council projects future pupil numbers 
to inform planning for school places. Early indications suggest 6% 
fewer births in 2016/17. 

 
 The percentage of pupils attending good/outstanding Coventry schools over time.  
 

 

 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Percentage of pupils attending 
good/outstanding primary 

schools 

92.0% 
Aug 2016 

95.8% 
Oct 2017 

87% 
SN 

Oct 2017 
 

90% 
England 
Oct 2017 

 

 

National 
average 

 

Percentage of pupils attending 
good/outstanding secondary 

schools 

67.9% 
Aug 2016 

75.0% 
Oct 2017 

77% 
SN 

Oct 2017 
 

83% 
England 
Oct 2017 

 

 

National 
average 

 

Key stage 2: expected standard in 
reading, writing & maths 

49% 
2016 

58% 
2017 

provisional 

57% 
SN 

2017 provisional 

61% 
England 

2017 provisional  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Key stage 4: attainment 8 48.1 
2016 

42.5 
2017 

provisional 

43.6 
SN 

2017 provisional 

44.2 
England 

2017 provisional  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Key stage 4: progress 8 -0.05 
2016 

-0.12 
2017 

provisional 

-0.1 
SN 

2017 provisional 

-0.03 
England 

2017 provisional  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Key stage 4: standard pass (grades 
9-4) in English and maths 

61% 
2016 

57.8% 
2017 

provisional 

57.8% 
SN 

2017 provisional 

63% 
England 

2016  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Key stage 5 level 3 average point 
score A Level entry 

28.29 
(Grade C-) 

2016 

28.7 
(Grade C) 

provisional 

28.7 
(Grade C) SN 

2017 

32.1 
(Grade C) England  

2017  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Key stage 5 level 3 average point 
score per tech level entry 

28.63 
(Merit +) 

2016 

29.5 
(Merit +) 

provisional 

30.82 
(Dist.-) SN 

2016 

30.77 
(Dist.-) England 

2016   

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Key stage 5 level 3 average point 
score per general applied entry 

35.08 
(Distinction) 

2016 

34.41 
(Distinction) 
provisional 

36.22 
(Dist.) SN 

2017 

35.64 
(Dist.) England 

2017  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 
 

 
 
  

42.0%

95.8%

80.7%

75.0%78.0%

100.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Aug 2017 Oct 2017

Percentage of pupils attending good or 
outstanding schools

Primary Secondary Special

Page 32



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Improve health and wellbeing 
 
 

Trends 
The Council’s priority on improving the health and wellbeing of local 
residents is to help them lead healthier lifestyles including better mental 
health; and help people to maintain their independence and supporting 
them when they need help. In September, the Council reviewed its 
public health indicators based on their public health relevance and their 
ability to measure the progress of wider health outcomes, and decided 
on four key measures, set out below: 
 
Prevalence of overweight (including obese) among children in 
reception (age 4-5 years) – child obesity is a known risk factor for 
adult obesity, and is associated with an increased risk of diabetes and 
cardiovascular disease. Infancy and childhood are important periods 
for forming dietary and physical activity habits, which can be influenced 
by public health initiatives and wider Council policy and programmes. 
In Coventry, the overweight / obesity rates among 4-5 year-olds is 
similar to the national average; however, among 10-11 years old, the 
rate rises to 38.2%, above the regional average of 37.1%. 
 
HIV late diagnosis – Coventry has the highest prevalence of HIV in 
the West Midlands. Measuring late diagnosis helps measure the 
success and reach of sexual health and wider HIV testing services. 
 
Smoking status at time of delivery – there are significant public 
health gains that can be made by reducing the number of new mothers 
who smoke, due to its positive effect on the health of mother and baby. 
In 2016/17, 347 pregnant women sought support from stop smoking 
services to quit, 154 of whom achieved abstinence by the time of 
delivery. Although overall prevalence of smoking is reducing, the 
number of women achieving abstinence from cigarettes by the time of 
delivery with support from a stop smoking service has steadily 
increased over the last five years. This suggests services are 
appropriately targeted. 
 
Percentage of recorded cases of diabetes registered with GP 
practices aged 17+ – this measure provides some indication of the 
scale of the public health challenge. It reflects, in part, the collaborative 
work between the Council and the NHS clinical commissioning group 
(CCG) to encourage GPs to maintain accurate disease registers; and 
is likely to increase as a result of improved case finding when the NHS 
diabetes prevention programme is implemented in April 2018. 
 

 
 Prevalence of overweight/obesity amongst children in reception over time 

 
 HIV late diagnosis over time (Note: late diagnosis is defined as when CD4 T lymphocyte [CD4] 
counts are less than 350 cells/mm3. Individuals who start treatment with CD4 counts <350 cells/mm3 

have a shorter life expectancy than those initiating therapy at higher CD4 count thresholds.) 

  

0%

10%

20%

30%

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Overweight/obese at age 4-5

Coventry West Midlands Region England

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2010-12 2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16

HIV Late Diagnosis

Coventry West Midlands Region England

Page 33



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Actions 
Childhood obesity: a new family health and lifestyle service is being 
commissioned which will support children, young people and their 
families on a range of issues including those promoting healthy weight. 
The childhood obesity alliance, made up of partners across the city, is 
working to develop new approaches to supporting healthy weight 
including a feasibility study into school meal food labelling. 
 
HIV: the Council and partners is working to ensure that the city has a 
range of means of access to HIV testing, particularly for individuals in 
high risk groups, in order to reduce the proportion of people who are 
diagnosed with HIV at a late stage. Late diagnosis of HIV is associated 
with much poorer health outcomes, but with early testing and 
diagnosis, individuals can live a longer, healthier life. A range of HIV 
testing services are available in Coventry, including through our 
integrated sexual health service, a number of GPs and community 
pharmacies, as well as through a community based lay testing service 
and an online self-sampling service. 
 
Smoking: the new family health and lifestyle service will support 
pregnant women (and their families) to become and remain smoke-
free. 
 
Diabetes: there are currently 3.4 million people with Type 2 diabetes in 
England with around 200,000 new diagnoses every year; and around 
22,000 people with diabetes die early every year. There is strong 
international evidence which demonstrates how behavioural 
interventions, which support people to maintain a healthy weight and 
be more active, can significantly reduce the risk of developing the 
condition. The Council and CCG is currently working on a local 
implementation of the healthier you: NHS diabetes prevention 
programme which will identify those at high risk and refers them onto a 
behaviour change programme. 
 
Substance misuse: the Council has commissioned a new service 
provider, cgl (change grow live), to run its drug and alcohol recovery 
service. Services began operating in November 2017. 
 

 

 
 Smoking status at time of delivery over time 

 
 Percentage of recorded cases of diabetes registered with GP practices 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Prevalence of overweight 
(including obese) among 

children in Reception 

22.4% 
2015/16 

22.9% 
2016/17 

24.2% 
WMR 

2016/17 

22.6% 
England 
2016/17  

N/A 

 
HIV late diagnosis (%) 51.6% 

2013-15 
52.8% 

2014-16 
44.1% 
WMR 

2014-16 

40.1% 
England 
2014-16  

N/A 

 
Smoking status at time of 

delivery 
12.2% 

2015/16 
11% 

Jan-Mar 2016 
13.1% 
WMR 

2015/16 

10.6% 
England 
2015/16  

N/A 

 
% of recorded cases of 
diabetes registered with 

GP practice 

6.5% 
(19,351) 
2014/15 

6.7% 
(20,772) 
2015/16 

7.5% 
WMR 

2015/16 

6.5% 
England 
2015/16  

N/A 

 
Adults achieving 150 
minutes of physical 

activity per week 

Not available 
(indicator 
revised) 

61.0%  
(57.8%-64.1%) 

2015/16 

62.5% 
WMR 

2015/16 

64.9% 
England 
2015/16  

N/A 

 
Hospital admissions caused 
by injuries in children 0-14 

per 10,000 

173.2 
(1,112 injuries) 

2015/16 

Annual 
indicator 

110.4 
WMR 

2015/16 

104.2 
England 
2015/16  

N/A 

 
Conceptions to girls aged 
under 18 (rate per 1,000 

girls aged 15-17) 

29.9 
Jan-Dec 2015 

28.3 
Jul 15-Jun 16 

19.5 
Warks 
2015 

27.1 
WMCA 
2015 

20.8 
England 

2015  

N/A 

 
  

10.9%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Percentage of women who smoke at time of 
delivery

Coventry WMCA WMR England

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Percentage of recorded cases of diabetes 
registered with GP practices

Coventry West Midlands Region England

Page 34



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Protecting our most vulnerable people 
 

Trends 
The Council runs services to keeping children and adults safe from 
harm; providing early intervention for families; enabling people to 
exercise choice and control; and preventing homelessness. 
 
Early intervention: there has been an increase in the number of five 
year olds with a good level of development in 2017, up 0.6% from 
65.4% to 66.1%. However, this this increase is slower than nationally, 
which is now at 70.7%. The gap with the national average has 
widened to almost 5%. There has also been an increase in inequality 
within the city, with the gap between the lowest achieving 20% and the 
rest widening by 2.2% points between 2016 and 2017. 
 
Children’s social care: Coventry’s children’s services were re-
inspected by Ofsted in March. The Ofsted report judged children’s 
services in Coventry as “requires improvement to be good”. This 
means that Coventry’s children’s services were no longer judged to be 
inadequate, making a key point in the improvement journey and 
demonstrated the improvements made over the past three years. 
Progress has been made on the two key quality measures in children’s 
social care, with fewer repeat referrals and fewer placement moves. 
 
Adult social care: services support people aged 18 and over who 
have care and support needs as a result of an illness or impairment. 
Support is also provided to carers who spend time providing necessary 
care to someone else. As of September, there were 3,428 service 
users receiving long-term support, showing a continuing reduction in 
the number of people supported. This may be explained by work done 
to help people meet their eligible care needs in ways other than the 
provision of services; and an increase in people receiving short term 
support to maximise independence instead of long-term care. 
 
Homelessness: Coventry is facing a large increase in homelessness, 
which has resulted in a £1.5m overspend in 2017/18 mainly due to the 
unfunded cost of housing families in temporary accommodation 
(mainly bed & breakfast rentals) which cannot be reclaimed from the 
Department for Work and Pensions as housing benefit subsidy. 
 
* half-year figures 

 
 Children’s social care repeat referrals over time 

 
 Adult social care self-directed support over time 

 
 Households accepted as statutorily homeless in priority need over time 

Actions 
Children’s social care: the Council has developed a new children’s 
services single improvement plan, Getting to Good, for 2017/18. The 
overarching key improvement priorities featured throughout the 
improvement plan relate to workforce development, quality of front line 
practice and partnership working. 
 
Parenting: the Council is continuing to invest in early intervention, 
including strengthening families to reduce the demand on children’s 
social care. In 2017/18, a budget of £50,000 has been allocated to 
delivery of the acting early programme, and it is proposed that the 
acting early budget is dedicated to supporting the delivery of an 
updated Coventry parenting strategy. 
 
Adult social care continues to experience budget pressures although 
additional short term funding through the improved Better Care Fund 

 
 In Coventry, we want Coventry children and young people to: have supportive families; 
live safe from harm; achieve their potential; be healthy; and have positive and fulfilling lives. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18*

Repeat referrals

Coventry Statistical neighbours England

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18*

Self-directed support

Coventry CIPFA nearest neighbours England

4.1 4.2

4.7

4.1

4.6

0

1

2

3

4

5

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Statutory homelessness (rate per 1,000 households)

Children’s social care vision

Page 35



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

has alleviated this. The pressures are in part due to the levels of 
complexity of people requiring Adult Social Care, particular for adults 
with disabilities and/or mental ill health; market costs as a result of 
wage increases and recent changes to ‘sleep-ins’ are also adding to 
financial pressures. 
 
Homelessness: the Council is getting ready for the government’s 
homelessness reduction act which places new duties on councils to 
help prevent homelessness or give advice on how to prevent 
homelessness for all applicants that are threatened with 
homelessness; The changes increases the timeframe for statutory 
homelessness from 28 to 56 days. 

 
 The Council’s vision for adult social care is to provide support, in the least intrusive 
manner possible, based on the assets, resources and abilities that are available to people. 

 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Good level of development at age 
5 

65.4% 
2016 

66.1% 
2017 

provisional 

67.7% 
SN 

2017 provisional 

70.7% 
England 

2017 provisional  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Gap between the lowest achieving 
20% in the early years and the rest 

35.1% 
2016 

37.3% 
2017 

provisional 

35.2% 
SN 

2017 provisional 

31.4% 
England 

2016  

Equal to or 
better than SNs 

 

Looked after children rate per 
10,000 & number 

81.1 (620) 
Mar 2017 

86.8 (663) 
Sep 2017 

 

73.2 
WMR 

2015/16 

76.4 
SN 

2015/16 

60.3 
England 
2015/16  

N/A 

 
Repeat referrals to children’s 

social care 
24.0% 

March 2017 
18.1% 

Apr-Sep 2017 
22.0% 

SN 
2016/17 

21.9% 
England 
2016/17  

<15% 

 

% of children with three or more 
placements in the previous 12 

months 

12.1% 
March 2017 

8.0% 
Apr-Sep 2017 

10% 
England 
2015/16  

<10% 

 

Common assessment framework 
assessments closed with all actions 

complete 

75.4% 
March 2017 

69.4% 
Apr-Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

>70% 

 

Households accepted as 
statutory homeless (in priority 

need) 

638 
2016/17 

268 
Apr-Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Homelessness cases prevented 

and relieved 
922 

2016/17 
281 

Apr-Sep 2017 
N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Adults using social care who 
receive self-directed support 

88% 
March 2017 

88% 
Sep 2017 

91% 
CIPFA 

2016/17 

89% 
England 
2016/17  

>90% 

 

Adults using social care who receive 
direct payments 

24% 
March 2017 

21% 
Sep 2017 

29% 
CIPFA 

2016/17 

28% 
England 
2016/17  

>24% 

 

Adult safeguarding rate of S42 
enquiries per 100,000 population 

(number of enquiries) 

390 
(920 enquiries) 

2016/17 

102 
(281 enquiries) 
Apr-Sep 2017 

184 
WMR 

2016/17 

250 
England 
2016/17  

N/A 

 
Regulated adult social care services 

rated as inadequate 
1% 

31 Mar 2017 
1% 

September 
2017 

N/A 

 

≤3% 

 

Adult social care service users 
receiving long term on-going support 

rate per 100,000 

1,269 
(3,430 users) 
31 Mar 2017 

1,240 
(3,428 users) 

Sep 2017 

1599 
CIPFA 

2016/17 

1519 
England 
2016/17  

3,400-3,800 
users 

 

Proportion of adult social care 
services users who feel safe 

75.0% 
2016/17 

Annual 
indicator 

69% 
CIPFA 

2016/17 

70% 
England 
2016/17 

 

>70% 

 

Adults who contacted social care not 
previously receiving social care 

support rate per 100,000* 

3,496 
(9,446 people) 

2016/17 

1,128* 
(3,119 people) 
Apr-Sep 2017 

4,525 
CIPFA 

2016/17 

1,519 
England 
2016/17 

 

9,000-10,000 
people 

 
Breastfeeding rates at 6-8 weeks 49.4% 

Jul-Sep 2016 
48.1% 

Oct-Dec 2016 
N/A** 
WMR 

2016/17 

44.1% 
Oct-Dec 
2016/17  

N/A 

 
 

* excluding mental health data. 
** validation tests failed, data not published. 

  

Adult social care vision

Page 36



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Reducing health inequalities 
 

Trends 
The Council’s strategy to reducing health inequalities is delivered 
through the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2016-19, overseen 
by the Coventry Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Marmot City: from 2013 to 2015, partners across Coventry worked 
together to reduce health inequalities. In 2016, Professor Marmot and 
his team committed to work with Coventry for a further three years. The 
Marmot City action plan sets out the ways in which partners and other 
stakeholders will work to achieve the key priorities of tackling 
inequalities disproportionately affecting young people, and driving good 
growth in Coventry. The latest Marmot report show the progress made 
towards the programme objectives, including: 92% of children and 
young people report an increased awareness of the risks of sexual 
violence and support services; employment and training support 
provided to over 500 young people not in education, employment or 
training through the Ambition Coventry programme; impact on health 
inequalities is now considered as part of equality and consultation 
analyses conducted on Council schemes; and partners are signed up 
to the Workplace Wellbeing Charter. 

 
 The city’s priorities in the health and wellbeing strategy 2016-19. 

 

Actions 
In the past six months, progress has been made around multiple 
complex needs and integrating health and care: 
Multiple complex needs: people experiencing two or more factors 
such as homelessness, substance misuse, offending behaviour, 
mental ill health, and worklessness are defined as having multiple 
complex needs. They often face poor outcomes. A board has been set 
up, chaired by West Midlands Police, to lead the work and strategic 
thinking around multiple complex needs; and an operational group has 
also been set up, tasked with case-managing a cohort of people facing 
multiple complex needs, and taking forward ideas and actions to begin 
to make a step improvement to the lives of people facing multiple 
complex needs. In November, Coventry has been successful in its bid 
to become a Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) approach area. 
Integrating health and care: the sustainability and transformation plan 
(STP) sets out how local services will evolve and become sustainable 
over the next five years, delivering the NHS Five Year Forward View 
vision. Entitled “better health, better care and better value”, five work 
streams have been set up: proactive and preventative care; urgent and 
emergency care; planned care; maternity and paediatrics; and 
productivity and efficiency. A reference group has been set up which 
will provide a forum for STP board leaders to meet with local authority 
health portfolio members, Health and Wellbeing Board chairs and 
representative non-executive directors. Initially, the reference group will 
look at: understanding the STP change agenda; wider system change 
and leadership; utilising the experience and success from local 
authority experience of transformation programmes; and the 
development of an accountable care system. 

 
 The MEAM approach helps local areas design and deliver better coordinated services for 
people with multiple complex needs. Coventry has been successful in its bid to become a 
MEAM approach area to improve the lives and outcomes for this group of people. Above 
graphic is from the MEAM is a coalition of national charities – Clinks, Homeless Link and Mind. 

 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Male healthy life expectancy at 
birth 

62.9 
(61.3-64.5) 
2013-15 

Annual 
indicator 

62.4 
WMR 

2013-15 

63.4 
England 
2013-15  

N/A 

 
Female healthy life expectancy at 

birth 
63.8 

(62.1-65.5) 
2013-15 

Annual 
indicator 

63.2 
WMR 

2013-15 

64.1 
England 
2013-15  

N/A 

 
 

 
 
 

Health and wellbeing board priorities

Working together as a

Marmot City to reduce

health and wellbeing

inequalities

Improving the health 

and wellbeing of 

individuals with

multiple complex

needs

Developing an 

integrated health & 

care system that 

provides the right help 

and support to

enable people to

live their lives

well

The Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) approach

Page 37



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

 

Making the most of our assets 
 

Make savings so that we can support frontline services 
No new savings are proposed for 2018/19. However, the Council is 
facing greater external pressures in some of its demand-led services, 
for instance, homelessness, and continued challenges in meeting its 
savings targets. In recent months, the Council’s projections of the 
overall position has worsened significantly. 
 
The pre-budget position shows a budget gap of £3m for 2018/19 rising 
to £19m by 2020/21 even after further technical and corporate savings, 
due to delays in achieving already agreed savings and emerging 
budget pressures. As existing savings are delivered, it is inevitable that 
reductions in the level or quality of service will be felt in some areas. 
The Council is continuing to make it easier for residents to self-serve, 
which is quicker for residents, and much cheaper for the Council.   

 Transactions completed online for services delivered by the Customer Service Centre 

Support the regeneration of Coventry’s economy 
The government’s stated intention is to move towards localising 100% 
of business rates, so that local government will be funded primarily by 
Council tax and business rates instead of a revenue support grant. 
This makes it even more important to focus on regeneration and 
economic growth. However, the changes required have not been 
included in the government’s legislative timetable, so the move to 
100% localisation looks likely to be delayed till beyond 2020. 
 
Coventry continues to be successful in attracting external funding, in 
particular, for capital schemes. In April to September, the Council 
attracted £23 million, including the £5m of Whitley infrastructure grant 
and £13m of growth deal funding. Note that such funding is inevitably 
‘lumpy’ and movements from one year to the next are more likely to 
reflect external factors than changes in performance. The current 
projection indicates that a lower level of external grant will be applied in 
2017/18 than in 2016/17. As the country moves towards devolution 
and Brexit, there will be changes to funding streams available. 

 
 Plans setting out the proposals for the development of land at Whitley South, including 
associated public infrastructure 

Change how we work to become more flexible and adaptable 
In April to September, the Council reduced the size of its workforce 
further, from 4,108.31 full time equivalents (fte) to 3,814.93 fte, a 
reduction of 293.38 fte posts. The headcount reduced from 4,998 to 
4,541; a reduction of 457. 
 
Sickness absence for April to September is 4.05 days lost per fte. The 
main reasons for absence are stomach, liver and gastroenteritis, 
followed by stress, depression and anxiety and other musculoskeletal 
problems. The target for 2017/18 is 8.00 days lost per fte – same as 
last year. 

 
 Full-time equivalent (fte) in Coventry City Council over time 

 
 Sickness absence in Coventry City Council over time 

 

  

16% 20%
28% 33%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Mar 2015 Mar 2016 Mar 2017 Sep 2017

Transactions completed online

5,081 4,832
4,515 4,242 4,108

3,815

0

2,000

4,000

Apr-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Sep-17

Council full-time equivalent workforce

0

2

4

6

8

10

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Sickness absence (days) against target

Half year (Apr-Sep) Full year (Apr-Mar) Target

Page 38



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Active communities & empowered citizens 
 

Empowering citizens and encouraging active communities 
There is a need to stem the increasing demand for crisis level public 
services through providing more early help and preventative support, 
so that communities are more resilient and able to look after each 
other. The expectation from public services is that communities will do 
this, particularly through established community based organisations. 
 
In order for this to be realised there needs to be a shift in relationships 
between public and community based organisations so that an equal 
partnership and sharing of resources provides an integrated network of 
support across formal and informal services. 
 
The Council is currently working with the Moat House Community 
Trust in the Moat House family hub reach area to draw upon the 
unique strengths in the area and tailor new ways of collaborating 
amongst people and organisations; generating greater levels of 
community action that will result in vulnerable individuals taking more 
responsibility for their own health and wellbeing. The Moat House 
family hub reach area will also pilot the Socyti platform, a digital social 
impact platform. 

 
 The Council has partnered with Socyti, a technology firm, to pilot a new digital social 
impact platform that makes it easy for everyone to shape the community they care about. As 
a pilot partner, the city will benefit from the platform free-of-charge during the pilot period. 

Working together with neighbours and partners across the voluntary, public and private sectors 
Working with the voluntary community 
The Council is also trialling new ways of working with community 
groups, to strengthen the viability and financial sustainability of 
community based organisations, specifically those that are actively 
growing the resilience and capability of citizens. The intention is that 
this will increase the financial viability and sustainability of community 
organisations; improve access to support for smaller community-based 
organisations; and improved working relationships between 
community, voluntary, public and private sector organisations to 
increase the capacity and resilience of Coventry people. 
 
Local community/voluntary organisations will have the opportunities to 
gain grants that will help them with capacity building support and 
professional services, including business development support, options 
for income generation and diversification, high-level accountancy, 
payroll and HR services, and training. 
 

 
 In August-September 2017, the Council donated recycled its older laptop computers to 
local community and voluntary groups that can demonstrate how the laptops will help 
communities improve access to digital technologies; improve skills to use digital 
technologies and become more employable; and encourage social participation through the 
use of digital technologies. 

West Midlands Combined Authority 
A second devolution deal for the West Midlands Combined Authority 
has been agreed in principle between the government and the West 
Midlands mayor. This will help address local productivity barriers; and 
include a £6m for a housing delivery taskforce; £5m for a construction 
skills training scheme; and a £250m allocation of the government’s 
new £1.7bn transforming cities fund. 
 

 

  

♻
187 laptops
donated to

73 organisations

 
improving access

to digital technology

 
improving skills

and employability

 
encouraging 

social participation

Page 39



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Indicators 
Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Carbon dioxide emissions from 
local authority operations 

16,368 tonnes 
 9% 

2015/16 actual 

14,640 tonnes 
10% 

2016/17 actual 

N/A 

 

35% by 2020 

 

Core employee headcount 
(full-time equivalents, fte) 

4,108.31 
Mar 2017 

3,814.93 
Sep 2017  

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Council staff sickness absence per 

fte 
8.64 days 
2016/17 

4.05 days 
Apr-Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

<8.0 days 

 

External funding attracted £54.4m 
2016/17 

£23.0m 
Sep 2017 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Transactions done online 28% 

2016/17 
33% 

Sep 2017 
N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Reduction in face to face and 

telephone contact 
 30% 
2016/17 

Annual indicator N/A 

 

 

 
 

  

Page 40



Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report

Coventry City Council December 2017

 
 

 

Indicator change log 
This list sets out indicators that are new, revised or deleted; as well as indicators where no data is available in this report (January 2018) 
compared to the report in August 2017. 
 

New indicators 
Locally committed 

 Prevalence of overweight (including obese) among children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) 

 HIV late diagnosis 

 Smoking status at time of delivery 

 Percentage of recorded cases of diabetes registered with GP practice aged 17+ 
 

Revised indicators 
Locally committed 

• Adults achieving 150 minutes of physical activity 
• Percentage of pupils attending good/outstanding primary schools 
• Percentage of pupils attending good/outstanding secondary schools  

 

Deleted indicators 
Globally connected 

 Claimant count (seasonally-adjusted) 

 Gap in the JSA claimant rate between the city’s most affluent and deprived wards 

 18-24 year olds claiming jobseekers allowance 
 
Locally committed 

 Smoking prevalence in adults: current smokers 

 Smoking quitters at four weeks (rate per 100,000 smokers) 
 

Indicators with no updates available at half-year 
Globally connected 

 Gross value added (£ per head) 

 Visitor trips 

 Residents aged 16-64 qualified NVQ level 4+ 

 Gross disposable household income (£ per head) 

 Change in Council tax base (index from 2009 base (100)) 
 
Locally committed 

 Roads and footways in a good/acceptable condition (four indicators: A roads, B and C roads, unclassified roads, footways) 

 Adults achieving 150 minutes of physical activity  

 Hospital admissions caused by injuries in children 0 – 14 per 10,000 

 Proportion of adult social care service users who feel safe 

 Adults who contacted social care not previously receiving social care support rate per 100,000* 

 Male healthy life expectancy 

 Female healthy life expectancy 
 
Delivering our priorities with fewer resources 

 Reduction in face to face and telephone contact 
 

Open data  
More details, including a publication schedule, trends, comparator data, progress reports, maps, additional infographics, and references, is 
available on the Council’s information and statistics hub at www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/. Open data is also published on GitHub at 
https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData. 

Page 41

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://smarturl.it/CovPerformanceData


This page is intentionally left blank



www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/ 

 

 
 

 
1 

       

Performance Management Framework 

Coventry City Council · Policy Document · 2017/18 
 

Introduction 
Our performance management framework sets out how we plan and organise our resources 
to achieve the things we want to do – our vision and priorities, as set out in our Council Plan. 
 

The Council’s approach 
Performance management is everyone’s responsibility. It is also part of our day-to-day 
operation. The Council’s performance management framework approach recognises the 
diversity of our business, and is mindful that services already respond to a wide range of other 
performance management arrangements; e.g. statutory returns or partnership working 
arrangements. As a result, this framework seeks to strike a balance between minimising the 
administrative burden of performance management by building on the systems and 
processes already in place, while ensuring a degree of commonality across the organisation. 
 

Balanced scorecard approach 
The Council recommends using a balanced scorecard approach to managing its 
performance, to ensure that its outcomes, outputs and measures of quality and customer 
experience are aligned to its inputs such as finance and workforce. 
 

Council Plan 
The Council Plan sets out our vision and priorities for the city. The current plan, Coventry: A Top Ten City was last 
refreshed in July 2016, and reviewed every year. Our priorities are delivered through key strategies. 
 

Strategies  
Strategies are used to implement policy and deliver plans for change. Performance standards, measures, targets and 
reporting timescales should be aligned between the Council Plan and key strategies. 
 

Directorate, service and team plans 
The Council’s directorates ensure that plans are in place to translate the Council’s strategies into operational activities. 
These plans may be at directorate, service or a team level as appropriate and determined by service need. Individual 
managers will identify the content and frequency of performance monitoring and review.  
 

Employee appraisal and development 
Our priorities are translated into individual objectives, supported by the behaviours framework. Under the Council’s 
employee appraisal process, the managers and employees are expected to regularly review an employee’s objectives 
(what they do) and behaviours (how you do it).  
 

Performance measures 
Progress towards the Council’s priorities is monitored using a consistent set of headline indicators. A wider basket of 
indicators including lag (output oriented, easy to measure but harder to influence) and lead (more input oriented, hard 
to measure but easy to influence) indicators are drawn on to explain the trends and stories behind the headlines. A 
mixed set of measures are used, including: 

 outcomes that our strategies can influence but not directly control (e.g. long-term ones like life expectancy or 
short-term ones like unemployment); 

 outputs showing how much a service has delivered of something (e.g. jobseekers supported); 

 inputs demonstrating efficiency in our resource usage (e.g. savings delivered); and  

 perceptions showing what residents think of our services (e.g. % of survey respondents satisfied). 
Performance measures and targets are set and reviewed by services with the relevant cabinet member, in line with the 
relevant strategy. They should take into account our priorities, resources, and comparators. The Council also uses a 
composite liveability measure approach to evaluate the relative merits of different places, and to compare and contrast 
any set of places to another using any indicator. 
 

Outcome/quality

Finance

Workforce

Customer 

experience

Vision
&

Strategy

Revise 

Review 

Do 

Plan 

 Performance Management Cycle 

 Balanced scorecard approach 

Appendix II 

Page 43

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/policy/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/93/council_vacancies/2859/our_behaviours
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/search/Pages/intranetresults.aspx?k=appraisal
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/cclm/


  

 

2 

Reporting arrangements 
The current reporting arrangements consists of: 

 Council Plan performance report to Cabinet and Scrutiny 
Co-ordination Committee summarising the Council’s progress 
towards its priorities, including progress towards its equalities 
objectives and Marmot priorities (health inequalities);  

 web-based performance information setting out a publication 
schedule; trends/comparators; progress reports; maps and 
infographics; and  

 indicator data published as open data. 
 

Key documents 
Our performance management framework is made up of… 

 Strategic 
Council Plan 

 
Key strategies 

Operational 
Directorate, service and 
team plans 

Individual 
Employee appraisal 
process 

Purpose Sets out the Council’s overall 
strategic direction 

Sets out the strategic direction to 
deliver a key priority 

Sets out tasks to deliver 
strategy and services 

Sets out individual 
objectives and actions 

Contents Vision, priorities and 
measures 

Outcomes, outputs, resources, 
measures, targets, timescales and 
an action plan 

Planned activities, 
achievements, timescales, 
resources, responsibilities 

Performance against 
objectives and behaviour 
framework 

Responsibility Council – with support from 
partner organisations 

Cabinet Member – with 
management lead (contributions 
might be cross-directorate) 

Determined by management 
lead at a directorate, service 
or team level 

Individual employee and 
line manager 

Performance 
measures 

Headline indicators and a 
wider basket of indicators 

Indicators to monitor outcomes and 
outputs  

Measures to assess progress 
towards outcomes and 
outputs 

Tasks and actions for the 
individual 

Reporting and 
reviewing 
arrangements 

Reported to Cabinet and 
Scrutiny Co-ordination 
Committee regularly for 
review; reviewed / refreshed 
by Cabinet as required 

Reviewed annually and as 
appropriate reported to relevant 
Cabinet Member. Indicators and 
targets to be revised and approved if 
necessary 

As determined by 
management lead 

Reviewed regularly as 
determined by individual 
employee and line 
manager 

Timescales Long-term plan; reviewed 
annually and refreshed by 
Cabinet as required 

As appropriate – and refreshed (or 
decommissioned) before expiry 

Typically up to one year (and 
refreshed as appropriate) 

Refreshed at least annually 

Next steps and future developments 
Responding to the Council’s digital strategy to “maximise the value in our data and information”, there are plans are in 
place to trial new ways of reporting and new technologies. The intention is to improve transparency and good 
governance, as well as streamline and improving the timeliness of performance reporting. Some of the current ideas 
and thinking include:  

 online digital performance dashboards built on a balanced scorecard of metrics automatically kept up-to-
date with data from the Council’s data warehouse – meaning that up-to-date performance information is made 
available instead of through formal performance reports; and  

 publishing more datasets online as open data, in particular, where data is frequently requested through 
Freedom of Information (FOI) requests, backed by a publication schedule – improving the experience for the 
public and significantly reducing the time spent by officers to respond to bespoke information requests.  

The Insight Team is keen to hear your views and work with departments across the council to continually develop the 
Council’s performance management framework to best meet the needs of individual teams and that of the organisation. 
 

Find out more 
Information and statistics hub: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/ 
Council Plan: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/ 
Performance: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/ 
Key strategies: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/policy/ 
 
Contact us: insight@coventry.gov.uk  
 

Version control 
Document owner: Insight Team, Coventry City Council insight@coventry.gov.uk  
Last updated on 29 June 2017. To be reviewed in July 2018. 
Document location: https://smarturl.it/PMF 

Council Plan 
performance 

report 

high-level report to  
Cabinet and Scrutiny 

equalities + Marmot embedded 

Web-based 
performance 
information 

 
maps 

infographics 

trends/comparators 

progress 
reports open data 

publication schedule 

 Reporting arrangements  

Page 44

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/10/performance/1184/council_plan_performance_reports
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/opendata/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/digitalcoventry/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/policy/
mailto:insight@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:insight@coventry.gov.uk
https://smarturl.it/PMF


Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report Appendix III 

Table of Indicators 
 

Globally connected 
 

GVA 
£22,165 

Business rates 
change from 
2002 base 

132.74 

Business rates 
collection rate 

97.2% 

Enterprises 

10,065 

City centre 
footfall (year on 
year change) 

+1.2% 

Visitor trips 

7.97m 

Resident 
employment 

rate 

69.9% 

Unemployment 
(model-based) 

5.0% 

16-17 year old 
NEETs 

6.8% 

Residents 
qualified to 

NVQ4 

33.7% 

 

Median annual 
pay (full-time) 

£28,432 

Median 
annual pay 

£23,055 

Gross 
disposable 
household 
income per 

head 

£14,527 

Council tax 
base change 

from 2009 
base 

106.67 

Council tax 
number of 
properties 

140,944 

Properties in 
higher 

Council tax 
bands (C-H) 

29.51% 

Council tax 
collection 

rate 

96% 
 

 

Locally committed 
 

Principal roads 
in a good / 
acceptable 
condition 

99% 

Non-principal 
roads in a good 

/ acceptable 
condition 

98% 

Unclassified 
roads in a good 

/ acceptable 
condition 

80% 

Footways / 
pavements in a 

good / 
acceptable 
condition 

36% 

Fly-tips 
reported in 

the city 

2,030 

Household 
waste 

recycled and 
composted 

35.5% 

Change in 
crime rate 
(half-year) 

9.22% 

First time 
entrants to 

youth justice 
(rate per 
100,000) 

334 

Domestic 
violence 
offences 

known to the 
police 

1% 

Repeat victims 
of domestic 

violence 
reported 

11.4% 

 

Percentage of 
pupils attending 

good/outstanding 
primary schools 

96% 

Percentage of 
pupils attending 

good/outstanding 
secondary 
schools 

75% 

Key stage 2 
expected 

standard in 
reading, writing 

& maths 

58% 

Key stage 4: 
attainment 8 

42.5 

Key stage 4: 
progress 8 

-0.12 

Key stage 4: 
standard pass 
(grades 9-4) in 
English and 

maths 

57.8% 

Key stage 5 
level 3 average 
point score A 
Level entry 

28.7 

Key stage 5 
level 3 average 
point score per 
tech level entry 

29.5 

Key stage 5 
level 3 average 
point score per 
general applied 

entry 

34.41 

Overweight or 
obese among 

children in 
Reception 

22.9% 

 

HIV late 
diagnosis 

52.8% 

Smoking 
status at time 

of delivery 

11% 

% of recorded 
cases of 
diabetes 

registered with 
GP practice 

6.7 

Adults 
achieving 150 

minutes of 
physical 

activity / week 

61% 

Hospital 
admissions 

caused by injuries 
in children 0-14 

(rate) 

173.2 

Conceptions 
to girls aged 

under 18 
(rate) 

28.3 

Good level of 
development 

age 5 

66.1% 

Gap between the 
lowest achieving 
20% in the early 

years and the rest 

37.3% 

Looked after 
children 

663 

Repeat 
referrals to 
social care 

18.1% 

 

% of children 
with 3+ 

placements in 
the previous 12 

months 

8% 

Common 
assessment 

framework closed 
with all actions 

complete 

69.4% 

Households 
accepted as 

statutory 
homeless (in 
priority need) 

268 

Homelessness 
cases 

prevented and 
relieved 

281 

Adults using 
social care who 

receive self-
directed 
support 

88% 

Adults using 
social care who 
receive direct 

payments 

21% 

Adult 
safeguarding 
S42 enquiries 

(rate) 

102 

Regulated 
adult social 

care services 
rated as 

inadequate 

1% 

Adult social 
care service 

users receiving 
long term on-
going support 

3,428 

Proportion of 
adult social 
care service 

users who feel 
safe 

75% 
 

Adults who 
contacted social 

care not 
previously 

receiving social 
care support 

3,119 

Breastfeeding 
rates at 6-8 

weeks 

48.1% 

Male healthy 
life expectancy 

at birth 

62.9 

Female healthy 
life expectancy 

at birth 

63.8 

 

 

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources 
 

CO2 
emissions 

10% 

Core 
employee 
headcount 

(fte) 

3,814.93 

Sickness 
absence 

days (half-
year) 

4.05 

External 
funding 
attracted 

£23m 

Transactions 
done online 

33% 

Reduction in 
face to face 

and telephone 
contact 

30% 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



1234567 Public report

REPORT BACK ON CONFERENCE/SEMINAR
REPORT TO:       Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee                                20th December, 2017   

REPORT OF:       Lord Mayor 2017/18, Councillor Tony Skipper 
                                 
TITLE:                 Civic Visit to Belgrade

DATE:                  1st – 6th October 2017
    
VENUE:                Belgrade, Serbia   

1. Recommendation

1.1 Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee is recommended to endorse the feedback report of the Lord 
Mayor's civic visit to Belgrade, accompanied by 3 representatives of The Belgrade Theatre, 
and the Principal Private Secretary to the Lord Mayoralty and the positive way the relationship 
with Coventry was reflected.

2. Background

2.1 Coventry has been formally twinned with Belgrade since 1957 therefore 2017 marked the 60th 
anniversary.  

2.2 Coventry’s Belgrade Theatre was built in 1958 as part of the reconstruction of Coventry after 
World War II. ‘The Belgrade’ acquired its name in recognition and thanks for a gift of timber 
from the Serbian capital that was used in the construction of the auditorium.

2.3 However, only in last 10 years has the twinning link started to re-energise itself following a 
period of inactivity during the Bosnian War - a conflict between Belgrade and Sarajevo – two of 
Coventry’s twin cities.

2.4 The purpose of the visit was for the Lord Mayor to lead the delegation from the Belgrade 
Theatre, involving the members of the Community Education Team, with view to meeting 
representatives of the Children’s Cultural Centre Belgrade and to meet the organisers of the 
annual Joy of Europe Festival with a view to young people from Coventry participating in future 
years.  

2.5 The Lord Mayor’s visit also provided opportunity to discuss other areas of co-operation with the 
Mayor of Belgrade to raise the city’s profile and represent the City Council and Coventry at a 
wider European level.

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



2

Cost of attending

Costs Approved by 
Cabinet/Cabinet Member

Total of Actual Costs

 Conference Fees Nil Nil

 Flights for 3 persons £546* £984.51

 Accommodation Nil Nil

 Subsistence £200 £120.55

*Approximate cost at the time of submitting Conference Approval Form.

2 Benefits

2.2 The itinerary for the visit was focussed on commemorative events to mark the 60th anniversary 
of twinning between the city of Coventry and Belgrade and the Joy of Europe Children’s 
Festival.  The most notable parts of the itinerary were:

- A special meeting with the Mayor of Belgrade and HE Ambassador of GB to Serbia to 
discuss future areas of co-operation, particularly in relation to arts, culture and education.  

   

- The gift exchange with the Mayor.  Coventry presented a clock with a specialised clock 
face to mark the anniversary as part of the Belgrade Theatre’s Clock Project.

   

Page 48



3

- A meeting with representatives of Cultural Children’s Centre Belgrade on their engagement 
with and providing opportunities for young people in Belgrade.  

- A visit to the Belgrade Theatre in Belgrade.  The Lord Mayor was keen to hear of their 
plans to redevelop the car park at the front of the Theatre (shown below) into a 
pedestrianised area with a view to naming it ‘The Coventry Plaza’.  Coventry will be kept 
informed of progress of this development.

- As part of visit we visited a few of their major tourist attractions:
Princess Ljibic’s Residence – due to its cultural and architectural importance, the residence 
has been designated a ‘Monument of Culture of Exceptional Importance’

Page 49



4

- Nikola Tesla Museum: dedicated to honouring and displaying the life and work of Nikola 
Tesla and his critical role regarding history of electrification of the world and future 
technological advancements in this area – hence the Tesla car.

- The Church of Saint Sava is a Serbian Orthodox church - one of the largest church 
buildings in the world.

Page 50

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Electrification
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Serbian_Orthodox
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_largest_church_buildings_in_the_world
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_largest_church_buildings_in_the_world


5

- The Joy of Europe Festival 2017 – in 1968 Children’s Cultural Centre Belgrade launched 
an initiative to set up an international children’s gathering to celebrate International Child’s 
Day.  Each October, Belgrade families welcome hundreds of children from all over Europe, 
who display their customs and skills in city squares, streets and venues.  

- Children from many countries take part, but the UK are currently not represented.  It is 
hoped that Coventry children will represent the UK in future years led by the Belgrade 
Theatre.

List of background papers

Proper Officer: Director of Finance and Corporate Services

Author: Jane Barlow, Principal Private Secretary to the Lord Mayoralty

Tel Number: 024 7683 3047
(Any enquiries should be directed to the above)

Other contributors:  None 

Papers open to public inspection: None

Description of paper: Report Back on Conference/Seminar Location: Room 36

Approved by Cabinet Member Community Development on 18th September 2017

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUCO Work Programme 2017/18

1

Please see page 2 onwards for background to items

14th June 2017 (informal briefings)
Air Quality
Community Safety
Public Health
12th July 2017
Council Performance Report 2016/17
WMCA Overview and Scrutiny feedback
6th September 2017
City Centre Redevelopment including Friargate, City Centre South, Station Master Plan, 

Leisure Centre, 50m Pool
Civic Visits to Dresden and Kiel
20th September 2017 PM
Fire Safety in High-Rise Buildings
18th October 2017
WMCA Overview and Scrutiny feedback
22nd November 2017
WMCA Overview and Scrutiny feedback – verbal update
Student Accommodation and University City Development
Adult Services Community Based Preventative Support
20th December 2017
Council Plan progress April – September 2017
Taxi Licensing
Civic Visit to Belgrade, Serbia
24th January 2018
Homelessness
WMCA Overview and Scrutiny feedback – verbal update
28th February 2018
School Parking Issues
28th March 2018
WMCA Overview and Scrutiny feedback
18th April 2018
-
Date to be determined
Selective Licensing for the Private Rented Sector – consultation outcomes (Priority – 

awaiting date confirmation)
Vulnerable Persons Strategy
Air Quality
Prevent Strategy
Renewal Plan
WMP2020 – West Midlands Police Transformation Programme
2018/19
Emergency Planning and Resilience
 

20th December 2017

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



SCRUCO Work Programme 2017/18

2

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ Lead 
Officer

14th June 
2017 
(informal 
briefings) 

Air Quality

Community Safety
Public Health

12th July 
2017

Council Performance 
Report 2016/17 

To consider the Council’s performance report. To include, as 
recommended by SCRUCO in 2016/17, simple information on 
the reduction in funding imposed on the Council and the impact 
that this has had on performance.

Andy Baker/ Si Chun 
Lam

WMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny feedback

Council representatives on the WMCA overview and scrutiny 
committee to feedback on the work of the committee

Cllr Brown
Cllr J Mutton

6th 
September 
2017

City Centre 
Redevelopment including 
Friargate, City Centre 
South, Station Master 
Plan, Leisure Centre, 50m 
Pool

A report on how several developments are interlinked and how 
they will support the regeneration of the city. Meeting to take 
place at Eaton House and a visit to Friargate.

David Cockroft
David Nuttall
Cllr O Boyle
Cllr Welsh
Cllr Duggins

Civic Visits to Dresden and 
Kiel

Reports from the Lord Mayor on recent visits to Dresden and 
Kiel

No officers required

20th 
September 
2017 PM

Fire Safety in High-Rise 
Buildings

To discuss with the Fire Service and Whitefriars, Coventry 
University to consider fire prevention and safety for high-rise 
buildings

Andrew Walster
Cllr Duggins
WMFS
Whitefriars
Coventry University
Council rep on outside 
bodies

18th 
October 
2017

WMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny feedback

Council representatives on the WMCA overview and scrutiny 
committee to feedback on the work of the committee

Cllr Brown
Cllr J Mutton

P
age 54



SCRUCO Work Programme 2017/18

3

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ Lead 
Officer

Local Policing An item to cover issues including effectiveness of current 
PSPO’s, Police and Crime Plan, rough sleepers, enforcement 
powers.

Emergency Planning and 
Resilience 

To review the arrangements for emergency planning and 
resilience in the city to minimise risks, respond to emergencies, 
ensure effective communication and provide reassurance. 

Michael Enderby
Cllr Duggins

22nd 
November 
2017

WMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny feedback – verbal 
update

Council representatives on the WMCA overview and scrutiny 
committee to feedback on the work of the committee

Cllr Brown
Cllr J Mutton

Student Accommodation 
and University City 
Development

To look at demand and supply of purpose built and private 
rented student accommodation and whether HIMO’s have been 
returned to family use. Plans for CC1-4 site and the impact of 
Brexit on University finances.

Coventry University
Craig Hickin
Mark Andrews
Cllr Bigham/O’Boyle

Adult Services Community 
Based Preventative 
Support

This report is coming to SCRUCO prior to Cabinet on 28th 
November. This will give SCRUCO to make recommendations 
for Cabinet ahead of the decision being finalised.

Michelle McGinty
Cllr Abbott

20th 
December 
2017

Council Plan progress April 
– September 2017

Progress on the Council Plan report for 2017-18, which will go 
to Cabinet in January 2018

Si Chun Lam
Cllr Duggins

Taxi Licensing This item will explore the current issues around taxi licensing, 
prompted by the rise in the number of cabs operating in the 
City who are registered elsewhere and the development of new 
models of taxi businesses, including Uber.

Andrew Walster
Mick Coggins
Cllr Innes

Civic Visit to Belgrade, 
Serbia

Feedback on the Lord Mayor’s civic visit to Belgrade, which 
took place in October.

Cllr Skipper
Jane Barlow

24th January 
2018

Homelessness There has been a rise in homelessness, and this trend is 
expected to rise. This item will take a strategic look at the way 
the City addresses homelessness and identify whether there is 
a way resources can be used differently to prevent 
homelessness and reduce levels of homelessness and the 

Andrew Walster/ John 
Gregg/ Pete Fahy/ Liz 
Gaulton/ Barry Hastie/ 
Customer Services

P
age 55



SCRUCO Work Programme 2017/18

4

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ Lead 
Officer

number of people in temporary accommodation. Childrens’ 
Services, Adult Services, Customer Services, Public Health 
and Revenues & Benefits will all be asked to contribute to the 
meeting, as well as the team with overall responsibility for 
Homelessness.

WMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny feedback – verbal 
update

Council representatives on the WMCA overview and scrutiny 
committee to feedback on the work of the committee

Cllr Brown
Cllr J Mutton

28th 
February 
2018

School Parking Issues To scrutinise the problems around schools during drop-off and 
pick-up times and look at what powers can be used to alleviate 
issues for residents.

28th March 
2018

WMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny feedback

Council representatives on the WMCA overview and scrutiny 
committee to feedback on the work of the committee

Cllr Brown
Cllr J Mutton

18th April 
2018

-

Date to be 
determined

Selective Licensing for the 
Private Rented Sector – 
consultation outcomes 
(Priority – awaiting date 
confirmation)

To consider the outcomes of the consultation and 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member following a scrutiny 
task and finish group recommending implementation in St. 
Michael’s Ward.

Davina Blackburn
Tracy Miller
Cllr O’Boyle

West Midlands Combined 
Authority

To consider engagement with the West Midlands Combined 
Authority, particularly its Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Cllr 
Mutton and Cllr Brown are the City Council’s nominated 
representatives on the Committee for 2017/18.

Cllr Duggins
Martin Reeves

P
age 56



SCRUCO Work Programme 2017/18

5

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ Lead 
Officer

Business Rates Members requested information on the current position on 
business rates retention and the WMCA pilot considering the 
Local Government Finance Bill was not in the Queen’s Speech. 
This was received during July 2017. Once further information is 
available, the Board would like an agenda item on Business 
Rates.

Barry Hastie
Paul Jennings
Cllr J Mutton

Review of Scrutiny To review the current Scrutiny procedures and to consider 
whether improvements could be made.

Adrian West
Cllr Brown /Cllr Duggins

Vulnerable Persons 
Strategy

This will take a strategic approach to a range of issues affecting 
vulnerable people. It will incorporate the Domestic Violence and 
Abuse Strategy as well as addressing issues such as modern 
day slavery, hate crime, Female Genital Mutilation, forced 
marriage and sexual violence. This will provide Scrutiny with an 
early opportunity to review the new proposed approach.

Liz Gaulton/Craig Hickin
Cllr A Khan

Air Quality Scruco will consider this issue which cuts across several areas 
including health, transportation, planning and public realm etc. 
The Board wishes to address issues and identify solutions. A 
potential task and finish group.

Liz Gaulton/Andrew 
Walster

Prevent Strategy To receive an update on the Prevent Strategy and duties 
associated with it.

Chief Superintendent 
Danny Long
Geoff Thomas

Renewal Plan SCRUCO will invite WMCA Mayor, Andy Street, to discuss his 
renewal plan.

WMP2020 – West 
Midlands Police 
Transformation 
Programme

An introduction to plans for local policing to 2020. Cllr A Khan
Craig Hickin

2018/19 Emergency Planning and 
Resilience 

Following the item in October 2017, SCRUCO requested that 
an item on Emergency Planning and Resilience is brought to 

Michael Enderby
Cllr Duggins

P
age 57



SCRUCO Work Programme 2017/18

6

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ Lead 
Officer

the Board annual to enable them to review the arrangements in 
the city to minimise risks, respond to emergencies, ensure 
effective communication and provide reassurance. 

P
age 58



 Briefing note 

To:  Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee                                             Date: 20th December 2017

Subject: Suggestions for Scrutiny

1 Purpose of the Note
1.1 To inform Members of Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee of suggested topics from 

members of the public.

2 Recommendations
2.1 Members are recommended to:

1) Consider the suggestions from members of the public and whether to add them to 
the appropriate scrutiny work programme.

3 Information/Background
3.1 Members of the public are able to suggest topics for scrutiny, via an on-line form on the 

Council website that members of the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee could consider 
adding to the work programme. The guidance explains that while there are no hard and fast 
rules about what makes a good topic for Scrutiny to investigate, only issues that Coventry 
residents are concerned about will be considered, and particularly if the issue affects the 
whole city. It explains that local issues may be better discussed with ward councillors and 
that other processes are in place to deal with complaints about services.

3.2 In considering whether an issue should be included in the scrutiny work programme, 
factors for Members could include: whether the topic is appropriate for scrutiny to consider 
or whether it is better dealt with in another way; how important the issue is in comparison to 
other priorities on the scrutiny work programme; whether the issue relates to something 
already on the work programme and could be incorporated in this; at what point in the year 
the issue would be best considered; and which scrutiny board is best placed to consider 
the issue.

3.3 Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following suggestion has been submitted:

I would like the process of adults being assessed and diagnosed for autism to be clearer 
and more promoted. It's quite clear for children but a minefield for adults.

3.4 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) are considering Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services on 31st January 2018. It is suggested that the Board ask for a pathway for 
the assessment and diagnosis of autism to be provided to that meeting which will enable 
Members to decide whether it is an item on which they would like to carry out further 
scrutiny.

Victoria Castree
Scrutiny Co-ordinator
victoria.castree@coventry.gov.uk 
024 7683 1172

Page 59

mailto:victoria.castree@coventry.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Taxi-Licensing
	5 Council Plan 2017-18 Half Year Performance Report
	5 - Appendix 1
	Council Plan half-year performance report 2017/18
	Overview
	Council Plan
	Indicators
	Abbreviations & symbols used

	Executive summary
	Globally connected: promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy
	Locally committed: improving the quality of life for Coventry people
	Delivering our priorities with fewer resources
	Overall summary

	Supporting businesses to grow
	Creating the infrastructure
	Developing the city centre
	Raising the profile of Coventry + arts, sports & cultural opportunities
	Helping local people into jobs
	Reducing the impact of poverty
	Supply, choice & quality of housing
	Create an attractive, cleaner & greener city
	Make communities safer
	Improving educational outcomes
	Improve health and wellbeing
	Protecting our most vulnerable people
	Reducing health inequalities
	Making the most of our assets
	Active communities & empowered citizens
	Indicator change log
	New indicators
	Revised indicators
	Deleted indicators
	Indicators with no updates available at half-year

	Open data

	5 - Appendix 2
	Performance Management Framework
	Coventry City Council   Policy Document   2017/18
	Introduction
	The Council’s approach
	Balanced scorecard approach
	Council Plan
	Strategies
	Directorate, service and team plans
	Employee appraisal and development
	Performance measures
	Reporting arrangements
	Key documents
	Next steps and future developments
	Find out more
	Version control


	5c - Appendix 3
	Council Plan 2017/18 Half-Year Performance Report Appendix III
	Table of Indicators
	Globally connected
	Locally committed
	Delivering our priorities with fewer resources


	6 Civic Visit to Belgrade, Serbia - 1st to 6th October, 2017 - Report Back
	7 Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Work Programme 2017/2018 Including a Suggestion for Scrutiny
	Suggestion for Scrutiny


